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ABOUT THE COVER

 CURVE

AHEAD OF THE
CURVE. Current
real estate trends
show the increasing
demand for luxury
and ultra-luxury
properties. While
other developers are
starting to get into
the niche, PhilRealty
has long been in the
game. It has proven,
and continues to
hold, its position as
a reliable company

that develops

properties suited

to the needs and
wants of its investors
and users. The
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VISKON

A premium property development company
In the Philippines delivering superior value
to its customers.

MISSI®N

We are committed to providing individuals, families and
businesses premium and high-end residential condominiums,
offices, commercial spaces and leisure developments
in the Philippines using best-of-class, grade-A materials,
top-of-the-line fixtures, latest and
state-of-the-art equipment and facilities.

We aspire to provide our shareholders a fair return for the
use of their capital, for our customers an excellent value
for their investments, and for our employees, a continuing
employment opportunity and equitable compensation.
We neither believe in gains made by taking unfair
advantage of others nor do we sacrifice
long-term objectives for short-term profits. We value
enduring relationships with our stakeholders.

We create spacious living in intimate communities,
combining aesthetics with functionality while preserving
the environment. We affirm our duties as a good corporate
citizen. We commit to assist underprivileged sectors of
society in improving the quality of their lives.
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MESSAGE TO THE

STOCKHOLDERS

Dear Stockholders,

As we move forward into another exciting year,

we reflect on our journey with immense pride and
optimism. Our theme, AHEAD OF THE CURVE, is a
testament to the enduring commitment to innovation,
excellence, and foresight in the luxury real estate
market of Philippine Realty and Holdings Corporation
(PhilRealty).

Current trends in the real estate industry reveal

a burgeoning demand for luxury and ultra-luxury
properties. While many developers are just beginning
to explore this niche, PhilRealty has long been a
pioneer in this arena. Our deep understanding of

-

GERARDO DOMENICO
ANTONIO V. LANUZA
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD

EDMUNDO C. MEDRANO
PRESIDENT

the market and unwavering dedication to excellence
have positioned us as a trusted leader in developing
properties that perfectly align with the sophisticated
tastes and high expectations of our discerning
investors and customers.

We have consistently anticipated and adapted to the
demand for luxurious facilities, superior services,
and upscale planning. This proactive approach
ensures that the properties in our portfolio not
only meet but exceed the evolving requirements of
the market, maintaining their competitive edge and
desirability.

Faced with challenges in our
operations this year, your Company’'s
Total Income was recorded at £726.9
million compared to 2022's $#878.3
million. We are encouraged by the
appreciation in our total assets, going
from £8.59 billion in 2022 to £9.01
billion in 2023. This increase is a clear
indicator of the fair value of your
Company’s assets. Our robust asset
base provides a strong foundation for
future growth and will be the focus of
our future strategic direction.

PhilRealty remains steadfast in its
mission to deliver unparalleled luxury
real estate experiences. We are
confident that our strategic initiatives
and continued focus on innovation
will drive us toward renewed financial
strength and success. Your trust and
support are invaluable as we navigate
this journey, and we are committed

to enhancing shareholder value and
reinforcing our market position.

Thank you for your unwavering
confidence and trust in PhilRealty.



FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

I. REVIEW OF CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME AFTER TAX FOR

THE PERIOD ENDING 31 DECEMBER 2023 VS. 31 DECEMBER 2022

Sales of Real Estate

Sales of real estate for this
year amounted to #174.5 million,
slightly lower than last year's
$£225.0 million.

P174.5 MILLION

Consolidated Net Income
After Tax

Philrealty posted a
consolidated net income after
tax of £112.9 million this year,
a downward trend compared
with the #180.4 million posted
last year.

P112.9 MILLION

Cost of Real Estate Sold

The cost of real estate sold for
this year amounted to £#90.2
million, down 15% compared with
last year’'s £106.3 million.

P90.2 MILLION

Management Fees and
Other Income

Management fees was up 19%
this year at £41.2 million
compared with the previous
year's #34.7 million.

P41.2 MILLION

Other income was at £426.5
million, down #114.0 million from
2022.

Rent

Rental income was up 16% to
£65.5 million in 2023.

P65.5 MILLION

General and
Administrative Expenses

General and administrative
expenses has been curbed to
£307.7 million compared to
last year's #338.5 million-a
9% decrease.

2023 : p307.7M
2022: p338.5M

Il. REVIEW OF CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION FOR

THE PERIOD ENDING 31 DECEMBER 2023 VS. 31 DECEMBER 2022

Total Assets

As of December 31, 2023, the
Company’s total assets amounted
to #9.01 billion, reflecting a

5% increase compared to the
previous year's £8.59 billion.

Current assets increased this
year at £3.20 billion compared

to 2.86 billion in 2022. This 12%
increase can be attributed to the
doubling of the current portion of
trade and other receivables to
£355.3 million from 2022's

P177.5 million and the increase
of £49.7 million in prepayments
to P463.2 million.

In terms of non-current
assets, investment properties
experienced a 5% growth,
reaching #£5.16 billion in 2023

compared to $4.93 billion in 2022.

A portion of this growth can be
attributed to the increased value
of your Company’s properties in
Tektite Towers, Icon Plaza and
Icon Residences, in La Union and
in Baguio City among others.

Overall, non-current assets
increased by £83.1 million,
reaching £5.81 billion in 2023.

This positive momentum in both
current and non-current assets

highlights the Company’s
expertise in the selection of
quality real property assets to
invest in. The significant increase
in current assets and its high-
value properties underscore
your Company’'s commitment

to optimizing shareholder
value. Moving forward, we are
confident that our quality asset
base will support our long-term
objectives and drive sustained
financial performance. With a
strong foundation in place, we
are well-positioned to capitalize
on future opportunities and
deliver continuing growth in the
coming years.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Total Liabilities

Total liabilities increased by 15%
to $2.38 billion as of 31 December
2023 compared to £2.07 billion
from the previous year. This
increase is primarily attributed to
the increase in the current portion
of the Company’s loan and notes
payables to #829.7 million in 2023
from £666.7 million in 2022.

The current portion of trade
and other payables were
well-managed, dropping to
£63.2 million in 2023 from the
previous year's #110.4 million.

The increase in total liabilities, is
reflective of our move to develop
upscale projects that underscores
our intention to leverage our

The well-managed reduction

equity to partially finance such
projects.

The capital stock and additional
paid-in capital remained
unchanged; reserves dropped by
£9.4 million while the retained
earnings saw a 7% increase to
P1.67 billion.

in trade and other payables
demonstrates our commitment
to maintaining a healthy balance
sheet and effective cash flow
management. As we continue to
invest in high-potential projects
and optimize our financial
resources, we remain confident in
our ability to leverage our equity
to attain sustainable growth and
increased shareholder value.

The steady growth in total equity,
driven by a notable increase

in retained earnings, reflects
your Company's strong financial
performance and prudent
management.

Our robust capital base highlights
our stability and resilience. With

a solid foundation in place, we
are well-equipped to pursue
future growth opportunities and
continue delivering value to our
shareholders.

Total Equity

As of December 31, 2023, the
Company's total equity amounted
to £6.63 billion, a 2% increase from
2022's £6.53 billion.

lll. KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Current Ratio
The Company’s current ratio (or
working capital ratio) was almost

unchanged at 3.52:1 as of the end of

2023 from 3.61:1in 2022.

Debt-to-equity ratio

As of the end of 2023, the
consolidated debt-to-equity

ratio was still at a conservative
0.36:1, even when compared to
the previous year’s 0.32:1. This
ratio underscores our prudent
and conservative approach

to capitalization, maintaining

a low level of debt relative to
shareholders’ equity. This strategy
helps to reduce financial risk and
ensures a strong foundation for
sustained long-term stability.

Asset-to-equity ratio

The asset-to-equity ratio of the
Company as of 31 December 2023
stayed at a conservative level at
1.36:1. This is still closely aligned
with the 1.32:1 ratio recorded as of
December 31, 2022.

Earnings per share

The Company’'s earnings per share
went down to £0.01 from #0.02 the
previous year. Despite this drop, it
highlights the Company’s resilience
in maintaining profitability and
generating consistent earnings for
shareholders over the past years.

The table below presents the comparative performance indicators of
the Company and its subsidiaries.

Performance Indicators 31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Quick Ratio

Debt Ratio

Interest Coverage

Gross Profit Margin

Return on Assets 1% 2%
Price/Earnings Ratio 11 10

Book value per share

The Company’'s book value per share reflected a positive growth,
increasing to £0.76 from £0.75 in 2022. This development is significant
given the consistent positive performance in the last years. This
consistent improvement over the past few years underscores the
Company's ability to enhance the value of its assets, reflecting

a promising expectation for shareholders and demonstrating
sustained positive performance.



As we stand at the forefront of a rapidly evolving
environment, PhilRealty continues to forge ahead,
propelled by our commitment to staying ahead of
the curve. Our steadfast dedication has positioned
us as trailblazers in the real estate industry,
setting the stage for an exciting future.

Looking beyond the horizon, we envision a
landscape where innovation and sustainability
converge. Embracing cutting-edge technologies
and nature-positive practices, we are poised to
create developments that will not only withstand
the test of time but also contribute to a greener,
more enduring future.

Our vision extends beyond the mere construction
of buildings; we aspire to shape pocket
communities that thrive in harmony with their
surroundings. With an emphasis on holistic urban
planning, we are committed to integrating green
spaces, promoting connectivity, and fostering a
sense of belonging within our developments.

Recognizing the transformative power of
technology, we are integrating smart infrastructure
and intelligent systems that enhance the quality

of life for residents. From advanced security
measures to energy-efficient solutions, our future-
forward approach will redefine the standards of
modern living, placing convenience, safety, and
environmental responsibility at the forefront. We
will continue to address the changing needs and
aspirations of our discerning clientele.

But our journey into the future is not limited

to physical spaces alone. PhilRealty is
committed to fostering community development,
empowering individuals, and making a positive
impact on society.

As we navigate the uncharted waters of the future,
resilience will continue to be our strength. We will
embrace challenges as opportunities for growth,
drawing inspiration from the indomitable human
spirit. Together with our partners, stakeholders,
and valued customers, we will continue to build a
future that is not just robust but transformative,
sustainable, and inspiring.
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FINANCIAL

HIGHLIGHTS

TOTAL REVENUE

The 2023 decline in
2023 revenue highlighted
the need for
adjustments

that we've since
implemented while

2022

maintaining our

commitment to
delivering long-

term value.

2021

IN MILLIONS

TOTAL ASSETS

9,011.87
8,230.98

IN MILLIONS

2021 2022 2023

Despite the challenging year, our strategic focus and robust
asset management have reinforced our foundation for
sustained growth. Our commitment to financial health and
Innovative initiatives continue to drive our success and
position us for future opportunities.

GERARDO DOMENICO ANTONIO V. LANUZA
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE TAX

2023

Despite a reduction in
income before tax this year,
our continued investments
2022 in high-value projects and
effective cost management

highlight our commitment to

2021 sustainable growth and long-

term profitability.
100 200 300 400 500
IN MILLIONS

SALES OF REAL ESTATE

2023
Real estate sales reflect
adjustments in a competitive
market. Our focus remains

2022 on delivering high-quality
projects that meet the
evolving needs of our

2021 customers.

100 200 300 400 500
IN MILLIONS
OTHER INCOME NET INCOME (LOSS) AFTER TAX
2023 I 426.55
2023
2022 & 540.51 2022
2021
2021 & 637.17
IN MILLIONS IN MILLIONS
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

NET WORTH

2021 2022 2023
BOOK VALUE PER SHARE
0.75 0.76
0.70
2021 2022 2023

EARNINGS PER SHARE

0.01

0.02

0.02

PRICE PER SHARE

2023

2022

2021

10

2021

2022

2023

IN MILLIONS




FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

DEBT TO EQUITY CURRENT RATIO
0.36
100 200 3.00 4.00 5.00 6.00
0.32
) 2023 il
2022 ol
2021 531
2021 2022 2023
Strategic initiatives and careful
financial management reflect our
resilience in a fluctuating market.
ASSET TO EQUITY PRICE PER EARNINGS RATIO
o N 0
(32 o ™
™
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N
N
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N
N

2021 2022 2023
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Director , 5 Director
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MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Edilynda G. Enriquez
Head
Human Resources

Mark Anthony M. Ramos
VP and Controller and
Compliance Officer

Erwin V. Ciar

VP and Head

Project Construction
and Management

14

Adeline Susan C. Carag
VP and Head

Property Management
Services



Richard Nicholas K. Go
VP and Head

Sales and

Chief Sales Officer

Marissa S. Bontogan
VP and Treasurer and
Risk Officer

Carlos Miguel T. Paca

VP and Head

Business Development and
Investor Relations Officer
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Edmundo C. Medrano

President
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A Transformative Year

The past year was marked with numerous highs and lows

across various sectors of the economy, public health, politics,

and even culture and sports. Among 2023’s highlights include
the official end of COVID-19 as a public health emergency,
and the impressive economic performance of the country.
2023 recorded a strong growth rate of 5.6 percent, only

a few points short of the target—which, according to the
Department of Finance, also proved how we have “[outpaced]

major economies in Asia.”

Leadership Transition: Steering Towards a New Horizon

One of the most notable changes
within PhilRealty this year was
the transition in its leadership
team. Gerardo Domenico Antonio
“Nico” V. Lanuza, who had been
serving as both Chairman and
President, transitioned to a
singular focus as Chairman of
the Board. This strategic move
allows Nico to concentrate on
steering the company’s long-term
vision and governance, ensuring
sustained growth and stability. His
leadership has been instrumental
in guiding PhilRealty through
various phases of development
and innovation, and his continued
role as Chairman promises a
steady hand at the helm.

Taking over the presidency is
Edmundo “Edmund” C. Medrano,
who was previously the Executive
Vice President, Chief Operating
Officer, and Treasurer. As a
seasoned finance professional
and business leader, Edmund

brings a wealth of knowledge in
financial strategy and business
operations, which he leverages to
build a solid framework for future
success. His extensive experience
positions him perfectly to lead the
company and drive PhilRealty to
new heights, setting the stage for
sustained growth and industry
leadership.

Edmund’'s appointment as
President reflects PhilRealty's
strategic vision to harness
extensive work experience and
leadership capabilities to navigate
the complex real estate landscape.
With these changes, the company
is well-positioned to tackle future
challenges and seize emerging
opportunities in the industry.

Chairman of the Board
Gerardo Domenico Antonio

V. Lanuza (left) and President
Edmundo C. Medrano (right)

16



FEATURE

Full Speed Ahead with Casa Unico: Securing a P3.8 Billion Loan

In September 2023, PhilRealty was able to
successfully obtain approval for a P3.8 billion term
loan from the Philippine Bank of Communications
(PBCOM). The approval of this loan demonstrates
PBCOM's confidence in PhilRealty's financial health,
capabilities and strategic initiatives.

This loan will support the development of Casa
UNICO, a 40-storey upscale residential condominium
project in Bonifacio South District, Bonifacio Global
City (BGC), Taguig City. This high-rise project

underscores PhilRealty’'s dedication to delivering
premier living spaces that will meet the high
expectations of investors with discriminating
tastes. This was proven in the Company's projects
in SkyVillas and Skyline Towers at the One

Balete Compound, The Alexandra, and in La Isla
Condominium Tower.

The project will feature the latest in architectural
design and sustainable building practices,
reflecting PhilRealty’'s commitment to innovation
and environmental protection.

()
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Casa Unico Ground
Blessing: A New Landmark
in BGC

On March 7, 2024, PhilRealty
marked the commencement of
the Casa UNICO project with a
ceremonial ground blessing at
the project site on 24th Street
corner 6th Avenue, BGC, Taguig
City. The event was attended by
key stakeholders, community
leaders, and company
executives, celebrating the start
of what promises to be an iconic
addition to the BGC skyline.

Casa UNICO is set to elevate
the standards of luxury living,
offering residents a blend of
modern design, sophisticated
amenities, and a prime urban
location. The development is
poised to become one of BGC's
premier residential addresses,
providing unparalleled living
experiences that cater to the
discerning tastes of today's
homeowners.

The ground blessing ceremony
was a momentous occasion,
symbolizing new beginnings and
the promise of future success.

FEATURE

PhilRealty Board of Directors and corporate officers at thje Casa UNICO ground blessing

19
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FEATURE

Recognition as Top Taxpayer:
Exemplary Corporate
Citizenship

PhilRealty's dedication to good
corporate citizenship was
recognized on February 27,
2024, when the company was
honored as one of 2023's Top
10 Real Property Taxpayers

in Pasig City. This accolade
underscores PhilRealty’s
unwavering commitment to
fulfilling its tax obligations and
supporting local government
initiatives.

Receiving this award highlights
PhilRealty’'s consistent efforts

in maintaining transparency, X
accountability, and ethical Marissa S. Bontogan, PhilRealty VP and Treasurer and Risk Officer (fourth from left), receives the

business pr‘actices_ award from Mayor Vico Sotto and Vice Mayor Dodot Jaworski, Jr. (to her immediate left and right
respectively) during the ceremony held at The Grove by Rockwell.

Corporate Social Enhancing Community
Responsibility: Annual Ameel\ll“Btlz'?'.IVInStauatlon
Bloodletting Activity 0

To enhance convenience

and accessibility for its One
Balete Compound residents,
PhilRealty has pushed forward
with the installation of
Philippine National Bank (PNB)
" automated teller machines
(ATM) at the compound'’s
Clubhouse last March 2023.
An ATM at the clubhouse is
sure to provide ease for the
residents of the compound,
provided by one of the
country’s largest banks.

This initiative supports the
nationwide advocacy for providing
adequate, safe, and quality blood
and blood products through
voluntary donations. By supporting |
the Philippine Red Cross's
mission, PhilRealty contributes
to life-saving efforts. The event
not only helped meet the critical
need for blood donations but also
fostered a spirit of volunteerism
and community support among
employees and residents.

Participants in the bloodletting
activity included PhilRealty
employees, residents of the One
Balete Compound, and members
of the local community. The event
was organized with meticulous
attention to safety and health
protocols, ensuring a smooth
and efficient process for donors.
The collected blood will be used
to support various medical
emergencies and procedures,
helping to save lives and improve
health outcomes for many
individuals.

20




FEATURE

Looking Ahead: A Future Filled with Promise

As PhilRealty reflects on the
achievements and milestones of
2023, the company looks forward
to a future filled with promise
and continued success. The year
was marked by a transformative
leadership change, significant
financial achievements, the launch
of a pioneering project, and
impactful community initiatives.
These accomplishments are

a testament to PhilRealty’s
resilience, innovation, and
commitment to excellence.

PhilRealty remains dedicated

to driving growth and innovation
in the real estate industry.

The company’s strategic vision,
combined with its focus on
operational excellence and
community engagement, positions

21

it well to navigate the challenges
and opportunities of the future. As
PhilRealty continues to expand its
portfolio and enhance its services,
it remains committed to creating
value for its stakeholders and
making a positive impact in the
communities it serves.

The journey ahead is one of
continuous improvement and
unwavering dedication to
excellence. PhilRealty extends
its heartfelt gratitude to its
stakeholders, partners, and the
community for their continued
support and trust. Together, the
company looks forward to a
prosperous and successful 2024,
building on the foundations laid
in 2023 and striving towards new
heights.

()
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Philippine Realty & Holdings Corporation

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The management of PHILUPPINE REALTY AND HOLDINGS CORPORATION and SUBSIDIARIES (the Group) is
responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements including the schedules
attached therein, for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, in accordance with the prescribed
financial reporting framework indicated therein, for such internal controf as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud and error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable matters related to going concern and using going concern
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.

The Board of Directors reviews and approves the financial statements including the schedules attached therein,
and submits the same to the stockholders or members.

Maceda Valencia and Co., the independent auditor appointed by the stockholders, has audited the financial
statements of the Company in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, and in its report to the
stockholders, has expressed its opinion on the fairness of presentation upon completion of such audit.

/ ﬁv\/éﬂf/é-
/
GERARDO DOMENICO ANTONIO V. LANUZA

Chairman

=
EDMUNDO C. MEDRANDO

Presjde

MARISSA S. BONTOGON
Vice President and Treasurer

Signed this 19" day of March 2024,

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this é\ﬁom , 2024, affiants
exhibiting to me their Tax Identification Nos., as follows:

Name  TaxIdentification’t¥a.y. RUBENACAZ ES, JR
Gerardo Domenico Antonio V. Lanuza 243-616-771 ___ NOFARY PLBLIC
Edm.undo C. Medrano | 13!*1--52]»5-2233-;-J Nﬂei Ingigﬁh;’BgSggggzélw
. :_a Marissa S. Bontogon 162-41BFN0, 384112 GUEZON CITY CHAPT

Roll ot Attorney’s No. 46427
Admin Matier No. 025(2023-2024)

FAGE NG,
BOOK NO... ' . MCLE-vH -(5-24-
Bolete Drive comer N. Domingo Streef, Barangay Kaunlaran, District 4, Quezon C%N:lﬁgfgggggg—ggﬂzozz

SERIES OF 20,2 he| No.: 631- |
el.No.: 631-3179  Fox No.: (632) 634-1504 Bzgong Lipunan dCrame Q.C.
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5/F Don Jacinto Bldg.,

C Dela Rosa cor. Sakcedo Sts.,
Legaspi Village Makati City1226

M V O Philippines

Carifind Poblc A . Mo Telephone: +63 (218403 7228 10 30

i . Fax: +53 (2) B403 7306
Member of @ Nexia

MVYCo@MVCo.com.ph

www .MV Co.com.ph
www.nexia.com

REPORT OF iNDEPENDENT AUDITORS
TO ACCOMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR FILING WITH THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

The Shareholders and Board of Directors

Philippine Realty and Holdings Corporation

One Balete, 1 Balete Drive corner N. Domingo Street
Brgy. Kaunlaran District 4

Quezon City

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Philippine Realty and Holdings Corporation
and Subsidiaries as at and for the year ended December 31, 2023, on which we have rendered our report
dated March 19, 2024.

In compliance with Revised Securities Regulation Code Rule 68 and based on the certification received
from the Parent Company’s corporate secretary and the resuits of our work done, as at December 31,
2023, we are stating that the said Parent Company has two thousand two hundred fifty-seven (2,257)
shareholders owning one hundred (100} or more common shares.

MACEDA VALENCIA & CO.

Tax Identification No. 119-894-676-000

PTR No. 10083026
Issued on January 9, 2024 at Makati City

BOA/PRC Reg. No. 4748 valid until August 7, 2024

BIR Accreditation No. 08-005063-000-2024 (firm); 08-005063-001-2024 {individual)
Issued on March 26, 2024; valid until March 25, 2027

March 19, 2024
Makati City

Maceda Valencia & Co. is an independent member firm of Nexia International, a workdwide network of independent accounting and consulting firms. Nexia
International does not accept any responsibility for tha commission of any act, or amission to act by, or the liabilities of, any of its members. Membership of Nexia
Intemational, or associated umbrella organizations, does not constitute any partnership between members, and members do not accept any responsibility for the
commission of any act, or omission to act by, or the liabilities of, other members,

24



£ ] 5™ floor Don Jacinto Building,
Salcedo corner Dela Rosa Sts.
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Telephone: +63 (2) 8403 7228to 30

Member of @ Nexia Fax: +63 (2) 8403 7306
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www.MYCo.com.ph
REPORT CF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Shareholders and Board of Directors

Philippine Realty and Holdings Corporation

One Balete, 1 Balete Drive corner N. Domingo Street
Brgy. Kaunlaran District 4

Quezon City

Oginion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Philippine Realty and Holdings Corporation and
Subsidiaries {the “Group”}, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at
December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the consolidated statements of total comprehensive income,
consolidated statements of changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of material accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2023 and 2022, and its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the three years in the period ended December
31, 2023 in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financlal Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines {Code of Ethics) together with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audits of the financial statements in the Philippines, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of
Ethics, We believe that the audit evidence we have obtainedis sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Key Audit Matiers

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consoclidated financial statements of the current pericd. These matters were addressedin the
context of our audit of the consclidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Maceda Valencig & Co. is an independent member firm of Nexia International, 8 worldwide network of independent accounting and consulting firms. Nexia
International does not accept any responsibility for the commission of any act, or omission to act by, or the liabilities of, any of its members. Membership of Nexia
International, or associated umbrella organizations, does not constitute any partnership between members, and members do not accept any responsibility for the
commission of any act, or ormlssion to act by, or the liabilities of, other members.
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The Risk
Real Estate Revenue Recognition and Determination of Related Cost

The Group's revenue recognition process, policies and procedures on real estate sales are material to our
audit because these involve the application of material judgment and estimation. In addition, real estate
sales amounted to P175.00 million or 24% of Revenues and Other Income while costs of real estate sales
amounted to P90.00 million or 16% of Cost and Expenses for the year ended December 31, 2023. The
areas affected by revenue recognition, which requires material judgments and estimates, include
determining when a contract will qualify for revenue recognition, measuring the progress of the
development of real estate projects which defines the amount of revenue to be recognized and
determining the amount of actual costs incurred as cost of real estate sales. These areas were material to
our audit as an error in application of judgments and estimates could cause amaterial misstatementin the
financial statements.

The Group's policy for revenue recognition on real estate sales are more fully described in Note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements. The material judgments applied, and estimates used by management
related to revenue recognition are more fully described in Note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Our Response

We obtained an understanding of the revenue and cost recognition policy onreal estate sales transactions.
We performed risk assessment procedures to obtain audit evidence about the design and implementation
of relevant controls. We performed a walkthrough as part of obtaining an understanding of the revenue
and cost recognition process to identify and further understand what could go wrong in the process and
to identify relevant controls that management has implemented to address what could go wrong. In
performing walkthroughs, we obtained sufficient information to be able to evaluate the design and
implementation of relevant controls and tested for operating effectiveness over revenue and cost
recognition process and financial reporting close process.

On the revenue recognition process, the following controls, among others, were identified and tested for
operating effectiveness.
¢  Control over initiation — sales reservation and payment scheme are based on valid transaction and
sales cancellation are issued based on cancellation policy;
¢ Control over authorization = (a) Reservation and payment scheme, Contract to Sell, and Deed of
Absolute Sale and {b} Notice of Cancellation for cancellation are approved by authorized officer;
¢ Control over recording and processing - Sales are systems generated at point of recognition and
are counterchecked by responsible finance officer and cancellations are manually recognized
based on approved Notice of Cancellation,.

On the cost recognition process, the following key controls, among others, were tested for operating
effectiveness.
¢ Control over initiation - Project costs are initiated based on budget.
¢ Control over authorization - (a) Budgets are approved by management and the Board; (b} Project
spendings are made based on approved letters of award; {c} Recommendation for payment are
compared with approved letter of award and approved by authorized officer; and (d} Changes in
contract are approved by authorized officer;
¢+ (Control over recording and processing - {a)l Payments are recorded based on approved
recommendation of payment; {b) Sales are systems generated on point of recognition based on
approved standard cost; and {c) Other capitalized cost such as interest cost are manually
recorded based on policy.
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On financial reporting close process, control over preparation of relevant disclosure were tested for
operating effectiveness. Financial statements and relevant disclosures are prepared and reviewed by
authorized finance officer.

We also performed substantive test procedure on selected sales and cancellations transactions during the
year by examining the approved payment scheme, Contract to Sell or Deed of Absolute Sale and Notice of
Cancellation and reperformed calculation of sales or cancellations recognized.

Valuation of Real Estate Inventories
The Risk

Real estate inventories constitute a material component in the Group's consolidated statements of
financial position. Real estate inventories amounted to P2.07 billion representing 23% of the total assets
as at December 31, 2023. Real estate inventories include properties under construction, acquired
properties that are held for sale in the ordinary course of business and land held for development. Real
estate inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market and net realizable value.

The valuation of real estate inventories is influenced by assumptions and estimates regarding
construction costs to be incurred, and future selling prices. Weak demand and the consequential over
supply of residential units might exert downward pressure on transaction volurnes and selling prices of
residential properties,

Cur Response

Based on the controls over cost recognition process, we examined supporting documents of selected
transactions of sampled projects to ensure that cost spending are complete and accurate and relates to
the project and any spending noted outside the budgeted costs including capitalized interest are
explained.

We reperformed standard cost calculation for selected projects and compared it with the standard cost
used to cost inventories. We compared standard cost against net realizable values of selected projects
through inspection of most recent sales contracts and expected sales proceeds from the remaining
properties.

Allowance for Impairment Losses on Trade and Other Receivables

The Risk

The allowance for impairment losses on trade and other receivables is considered to be a matter of
significance as it requires the application of judgment and use of subjective assumptions by management.
As of December 31, 2023, trade and other recelvables has a total carrying amount of P563 miillion
contributing 6% of the Company's total assets.

Our Response

We tested the calculation methodology which is based on cash flows of future payments considering
historical data of collections and defaults including the value of repossessed inventories and possible

refunds. We also tested the assumptions including interest rates used in computing for the expected
credit loss.

()
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Valuation of Investment Properties
The Risk

Investment properties is considered to be amatter of significance as it requires the application of valuation
judgment and use of assumptions by management. As of December 31, 2023, investment property has a
total carrying amount of P5.16 billion contributing 57% of the Company's total assets.

QOur Response

To validate additions to investment properties, we examined supporting documents such as contracts,
Daeds of Absolute Sale, supplier invoices and/or official receipts.

To determine fair value adjustments, we obtained the latest appraisal report and evaluated
appropriateness of assumptions and valuation method and completeness of the information used.

We also evaluated the competence and cbjectivity of the external expert engaged by the management to
value the investment properties by ensuring the expert is an accredited appraiser by the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC).

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the SEC Form 20-IS (Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report for
the year ended December 31, 2023, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor's report thereon. The SEC Form 20-1IS {Definitive Information Statement}), SEC Form 17-A and
Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2023 are expected to be made available to us after the
date of this auditor's report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above when it become available and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audits, otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibifities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with PFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consclidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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Auditor’'s Responsibiiities for the Audit of the Consofidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with PSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with PSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

» |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financizal statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

*  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasconableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast material doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

¢ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

¢ Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and material audit findings, including any material deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

()
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audits of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the publicinterest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Jose T. Valencia.

MACEDAVALENCIA & CO.

Tax Identification No. 119-894-676-000
PTR No. 10083026
issued on January 9, 2024 at Makati City
BOA/PRC Reg. No. 4748 valid until August 7, 2024
BIR Accreditation No., 08-005063-000-2024 {firm); 08-005063-001-2024 (individual)

Issued on March 26, 2024; valid until March 25, 2027

March 19, 2024
Makati City
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PHILIPPINE REALTY AND HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSCLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND 2022
December 31,2022  January 1, 2022
{As restated— (As restated —
- _ Note 2023 Note 29 Note 29)
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3 P283,145,676 P163,886,734 P202,643,198
Financial assets at fair value through
profit orloss (FVPL) 4 6,750,000 6,750,000 6,750,000
Trade and other receivables - current
portion 6 355,309,445 177,461,738 132,440,960
Real estate inventories 7 2,073,624,267 2,086,122,188 2.136,292,560
Prepayments and other current assets -
net B 463,159,351 413,430,156 410,821,019
Investment in finance lease— current
portion 12 15,606,638 14,099,824 13,055,174
Total Current Assets 3,197,595,377 2.861,750,640 2,902,002,911
Non-current Assets
Financial assets at fair value through
other cormnprehensive income (FVOCI) 5 35,197,203 36,076,106 37,644,536
Trade and other receivables — net of
current portion & 207,967,647 365,017,469 461,101,590
Investments in and advances to
associates—net 9 56,436,750 58,236,132 59,667,432
Investment properties 1o 5,163,547,388 4,926,465,273 4,406,355,439
Property and equipment —net 11 91,481,034 60,321,966 73,043,468
Right-of-use assets —net 12 87,619,912 97,414,601 89,431,827
Investment in finance lease —net of
current portion 12 171,970,892 187,577,451 201,677,353
Other non-current assets 33,386 53,386 53,386
Total Non-current Assets 5,814,274,212 5,731,162,384 5,328,975,031
P9,011,869,589 F8,592,913,024 P8,230,577,942
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables - current
portion 13 P€3,237,619 P110,354,183 P150,248,583
Loans and note payable - current
portion i4 829,668,150 066,722,994 381,938,245
_Lease liability - current portion 12 15,570,165 14,841,458 14,116,765
Total Current Liabilities 908,475,934 791,918,635 546,303,593
Non-current Liabilities
Trade and other payables - net of
current portion 13 76,059,054 84,851,214 71,825,744
Loans and note payable - net of current
portion 14 372,351,57% 227,700,370 430,522,044
Retirement benefit obligation 16 85,635,684 66,953,485 70,930,176
Deferred tax liabilities — net 24 753,432,863 696,703,231 h68,677,622
Lease liability — net of current portion 12 143,092,814 158,662,979 173,503,161
Deferred rent income 12 43,608,343 40,425,411 40,970,220
Total Mon-current Liabllities 1,474,180,337 1,275,296,690 1,356,428,967
Total Liabilities 2,382,656,271 2,067,215,325 1,902,732,560
Forward

()
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PHILIPPINE REALTY AND HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

DECEMBER 31, 2023, 2022 AND 2021

January 1, 2022
{As restated—
Note 29}

December 31,
2022 {As
restated —
_Note 2023 Note 29}
EQUITY
Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of
the Parent Company
Capital stock 25 4,275,721,448 4,275,721,448
Additional paid-in capital 25 780,630,029 780,630,029
Reserves 26 56,177,322 65,530,662
Retained earnings 1,668,286,406 1,555,405,651
Treasury stock 25 {110,049,633]) {110,049,633)
6,670,765,572 6,567,238,157
Equity Attributable to Non-Controlling
Interests 27 {41,552,254) (41,540,458}

4,275,698,948
780,630,029
52,201,114
1,368,606,555

(110,049,633}

6,367,087,013

{38,841,631)

6,629,213,318

6,525,697,699

6,328,245,382

P9,011,869,589

P8,592,913,024

P8,230,977,942

Sea Notes to the Consofidated Financis! Statements
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_ PHILIPPINE REALTY AND HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023, 2022 AND 2021

()

Notes 2023 2022 2021
INCOME
Sales of real estate P174,460,724 P224,998,917 P153,819,523
Rent 10,12 65,466,246 56,674,800 55,302,865
Management fees 17 41,203,464 34,655,944 36,779,297
Interest 19 14,050,801 15,924,493 17,404,620
Cornmisslon 18 5,215,928 5,567,455 4,512,545
_Otherincome 20 426,546,957 540,509,715 637,167,113
726,944,120 878,331,324 904,985,963
COSTS AND EXPENSES
Cost of real estate sold 7 90,154,100 106,296,787 113,172,007
Cost of services 21 74,909,201 62,551,098 68,763,460
General and administrative expenses 22 307,660,262 338,465,029 304,443,005
Finance costs 12,14 70,157,474 63,809,071 70,888,773
Equity in net loss of an associate b4 1,799,380 1,431,300 4,488,055
Otherexpenses 23 4,898,497 230,051 90,852,818
549,578,914 572,783,336 652,608,118
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 177.365,206 305,547,988 252,377,845
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 24 64,496,247 125,159,497 59,638,324
NET INCOME P112,868,959  P180,388491  P192,739,521
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 28 P112,880,755 P183,087,318 P194,733,394
Non-controlling interest o 27 {11,796} (2,698,827) (1,993,873)
P112,868,959 P180,388,491 P192,739,521
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(LOSS)
lems that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss
Remeasurement gain (loss) on defined
benefit obligation, net of tax 26 (P8.521,221) P14,897,978 P13,899,945
Unreallzed holding loss on financlal
assets at FVOCI 526 (878,903} (1,568,430} (3,365,984)
(9,400,124} 13,329,548 10,533,961
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME P103,468,835 PF193,718,039 P203,273,482
BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE 28 P0.01 PO.02 PD.02
See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
33
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PHILIPPINE REALTY AND HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASHFLOWS

()

- Notes 2023 2022 2021
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Income befcre income tax P177,365,206 P305,547,988 P252,377,845
Adjustments for:
Finance costs 12,14 70,157,474 63,809,071 70,888,773
Depreciation and amortization 21,22 19,410,315 27,990,961 22,603,519
Provision for retirement benefits 16 14,813,508 15,631,169 15,373,885
Equity in net loss of an associate 9 1,799,380 1,431,300 4,488,055
Loss (gain) on repossession of real
estate inventories 2023 3,524,627 {1.498,643) {14,287.462}
Foreign exchange loss {gain) — net 2023 402,230 (1,952,441} (1,434,240}
Provision for {reversal of} impairment
loss on trade and other receivables 6,20,22 {22,136,446) 27,589,342 24,559,812
Interestincome 19 {14,050,801] {15,924,493) {17,404,620}
Gain on sale of investment properties 10 (128,065,333} - -
Gain on changein fair value of
investment properties 1020 {259,380,144} (526,868,292} (610,925,892}
Dividendincome 5,20 - (1,953,910} s
Loss on cancellation of sale of
investment property 1023 - - 87,996,422
Loss on sublease 23 - - 2,769,442
Loss on sale of property and
equipment 23 = = 38,793
Operating loss before working capital
changes (136,159,984) {106,197,948) {162,955,668)
Decrease lincrease) in:
Trade and other recaivables 47,982,799 18,515,029 512,751,925
Prepayments and other current assets (48,950,129) 2,783,533 (2,413,716)
Real estate inventories 35,211,279 69,979,015 78,532,024
Other nan-current assets - = (3,500,000)
Increasa (decrease) in:
Trade and other payables (57,931,774) {26,867,654) (52,203,778}
Unearned income - - (1,361,382)
Other non-current liabilities 3,140,408 (544,808) 1,502,544
Cash generated from {absorbed by)
operations (156,707,401) {42,332,834) 370,351,949
Interest received 19 14,050,801 15,924,453 16,427,063
Dividends received 20 - 1,953,910 -
Retirement benefits paid 16 {539,280) - {1,424,639)
Contributions to retirement fund 16 {7,000,000) - (500,000}
Net cash from {used in) operating (150,195,880) {24,454,431) 384,854,373
activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
Additions to property and equipment 11 (40,698,040} {4,768,327) 16,427,388)
Additions to investment properties 10 (3,939,956} {30,030,586) {6,571,762)
Proceeds from sale of investment
properties 62,036,427 = 14,000,000
Proceeds from disposal of property and
equipment 776,528 24,135 1,071,894
Net cash from {used in) investing activities 18,174,959 (34,774,778} 2,072,744
Forward
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PHILIPPINE REALTY AND HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW

Note 2023 2022 B 2021

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES
Proceeds fram availment of loans 14 P2,018,581,702 P1,013,706,633 P796,260,165
Collection of lease receivables 23,672,896 23,284,800 13,737,584
Lease liability payments {22,972,049) (22,941,000) (15,981,379)
Finance cost paid {56,615,119) (63,809,071) (68,942,689)
Payments of loans and note payable 14 (1,710,985.337} {931,743,558) {1,017,125,554}
Proceeds from collection of

subscriptions receivable o 22,500 74,037
Costs incurred inissuance of shares S - {100,985,622)
Net cash from {used in) financing

activities 251,682,093 18,520,304 (392,963,458}
EFFECTS OF EXCHANGE RATE a

CHANGES IN CASH AND CASH

EQUIVALENTS {402,230) 1,952,441 1,434,240
NET INCREASE (DECREASE} IN CASH

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 119,258,942 {38,756,464) {4,602,101)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 3 163,886,734 202,643,198 207,245,299
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AT END OF YEAR 3 P283,145,676 P163,886,734 P202.643,198
See Notes to the Consolidstad Finsncis! Stat ts.
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PHILIPPINE REALTY AND HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Corporate information

Philippine Realty and Holdings Corporation (the “Parent Company”) was incorporated and registered
with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commiission (SEC) on July 13, 1981. The principal
activities of the Parent Company include the acquisition, development, sale and lease of all kinds of
real estate and personal properties, and as aninvestment and holding company.,

The Parent Company was listed with the Philippine Stock Exchange {PSE) on September 7, 1987.
On June 22, 2021, the Company issued 4,177,777,778 new commen shares at par value of P0.50 per
share in favor of Greenhilis Properties, Inc. {GPI), in exchange for the two vacant lots in Bonifacio

Global City (BGC).

The Parent Company's registered office is at One Balete, 1 Balete Drive corner N. Dominge St.
Brgy. Kaunlaran, District 4, Quezon City 1111, Philippines.

The consolidated financial statements represent the consolidation of the financial statements of the
Parent Company and the following domestic subsidiaries:

Principal Ownership Interest
Activities 2023 2022
PRHC Property Managers, Inc. Property
(PPMI) Management Direct 100% 100%
Tektite Insurance Brokers, Inc. Insurance
(TIB1} Brokerage Direct 100% 100%
Sultan’s Power, Inc. (SPI) Holding Company Direct 100% 100%
Universal Travel Corporation Traveland Tours
{UTC) Agency Direct 81.53%  81.53%
Waste
Recon-X Energy Corporation Management Indirect 51% 51%

2. Basis of Preparation

Statement of Compliance

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS). PFRS includes all applicable PFRS, Philippine
Accounting Standards (PAS), and interpretations of the Philippine Interpretations Committee (PIC},
Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC) and International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee {IFRIC), as approved by the Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC} and adopted by
the SEC.

Approval of Financial Staternents
The accompanying consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31,
2023 were approved and authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors (BOD) on March 19, 2024,

()
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_ PHILIPPINE REALTY AND HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Basis of Measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for the following which are measured using alternative basis at each reporting date:

Financial assets at FVPL Fair value
Financial assets at FYOC! Fair value
Investment properties Fair value
Retirement benefit obligation Present value of the defined benefit

obligation less fair value of plan assets

Functional and Presentation Currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine peso, which is the presentation
and functional currency of the Group. All financial information presented have been rounded to the
nearest peso, unless otherwise stated.

Use of Estimates and Judgments

The preparation of the consclidated financial statements requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estirnates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods
affected.

In particular, information about material areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in
applving accounting policies that have the most material effect on the amounts recognized in the
consalidated financial statements are described in Note 32.

3. Cashand Cash Equivalents

This account consists of:

2023 2022
Cash on hand P45,000 P45,000
Cashinbanks 271,847,207 135,763,217
Cash equivalents 11,253,469 28,078,517

P283,145,676 P163,886,734

Cash in banks earned an average annual interest of 0.05% and 0.03% in 2023 and 2022. Cash
equivalents represent money market placements or short-term investments with maturities up to
three months and annual interests ranging from 2.25% to 5.00% and 3.00% to 4.40% in 2023 and
2022, respectively.

Interest income recognized amounted to P1.33 million, P0.49 miillion and P0.50 million in 2023, 2022
and 2021, respectively (see Note 19).

4. Flnanclal Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (FVPL)

This account is composed of listed equity securities that are held for trading. The fair values of these
securities totaling P6,750,000 are based on quoted market prices.
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PHILIPPINE REALTY AND HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. Financlal Assets at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income (FYOCI)

As at December 31, financial assets at FVOCI consist ofinvestments in:

2023 2022

At cost:
Listed shares of stock P58,332,808 P58,332,808
Golf and country club shares 3,350,000 3,350,000
61,682,808 61,682,808
Accumulated unrealized holding loss {26,485,605) {25,606,702)
P35,197,203 P36,076,106

The movements in this account are summarized as follows:

2023 2022
Balance at beginning of year P36,076,106 P37,644,536
Fair value adjustments (878,503} {1,568,430)
Balance at end of year P35,197,203 P36,076,106

The investments in shares of stock of various listed equity securities present the Parent Company
with opportunity for return through dividend income. The above investments in equity instruments
are not held for trading and the Group irrevocably elected to present subsequent changes in fair
valuas in OCL.

The fair values of these investments are based on quoted market prices. Unrealized holding gains or
losses from market value fluctuations are recognized as part of the Group’s reserves.

Unrealized holding loss recognized in other comprehensive income from financial assets at FVOCI
amounted to PO.88 millionin 2023, P1.57 million in 2022 and P3.37 millionin 2021 (see Note 26).

Trade and Otin;r R;ceivables

Dividend income recognized in profit or loss amounted to P1,953,910in 2022 {see Note 20).

This account is composed of:

2023 2022

Trade:
Sale of real estate P503,026,750 P533,856,617
Lease 20,797,969 24,271,329
Management fees 5,526,833 4,970,368
Commission 4,431,572 5,165,878
Premiums receivable 4,012,287 3,957,483
Advances 82,745,378 51,760,569
Other receivables 65,094,325 69,174,370
689,635,114 693,156,614
Less: allowance forimpairment loss 126,358,022 150,677,407
263,277,092 542,479,207
Less: non-current portion 207,967,647 365,017,469
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PHILIPPINE REALTY AND HOLDINGS COCRPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Trade and other receivables- current portion P177,461,738

P355,309,445

Trade receivables from sale of real estate include amounts due from buyers of the Parent
Company's condominium projects, generally over a period of two {2) to three (3} years. The
condominium certificates of title remain in the possession of the Parent Company until full payment
has been made by the customers. Trade receivables for restructured accounts carry yield-to-
maturity interest rates of 1.5% per month in 2023 and 2022. Interest income recognized amounted
to P2,815,144, P4,305,819, and P4,127,556 in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively (see Note 19).
Certain trade receivables with total carrying value of P216 million and P190 million as at December
31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, are pledged to a local bank as collateral to the Company’s loans
payable (see Note 14),

Receivables amounting to P126.35 miillion and P150.67 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively, were fully provided with allowance. The movements in the allowance for impairment
loss on receivables are as follows:

2023 o
Sale of real Management Premiums Other
estate Lease fees recetvable Advances  receivables Total
Beginnlng
balance PB3,512,900  P5,478,.810 P 3,189,750 P5,082,902  P862,891 P52,550,154 P150,677,407
Provisions - - - - - 2,863,554 2,863,554
{Reversals) - - 12,182,939} 125,000,000} (27,182,939}
P83,512,900  P5,478,810 P 3,189,750 P2,899,963  P862,391  PZ0,413,708 P126,358,022
2022 -
Sale of real Management Premiums Other
estate Leasa feas receivable Achances recefvables Total
Beginning
balance P&8,650,704  P7.507,749 PE00,408 P5,082,902  PB62,891  P16,820,965 P119,525,61%
Provisions
{Reversals) (5,137,8041 (2,028,939} 2,589,542 = 35,729,189 31,151,788
PB3,512,900  P5,478,810 P3,189,750 P5,082,002  Pa62,891  P52,550,154 P150,677.407
7. Real Estate Inventories
This account consists of:
2023 2022
In progress:
BGC Project P284,007,543 P252,154,357
Andrea North Estate 115,191,934 129,466,042
359,199,477 381,620,399
Completed units:
Andrea North SkyVillas Tower 42,177,734 96,696,424
Andrea North Skyline Tower 24,927,304 26,008,598
The Icon Plaza 54,790,767 29,267,782
LCasa Miguel 7,192,072 7,192,072
129,087,877 159,164,876
Land held for development:
New Manila, Quezon City 135,336,913 135,336,913
BGC 1,410,000,000  1,410,000,000
1,545,336,913 1,545,336,913
P2,073,624,267 P2,086,122,188
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BGC Project represents the cost of the master plan design, excavation works, survey and permits,
and capitalized loan interest related to the construction of the new tower in BGC.

On June 22, 2021, the Parent Company received two BGC lots from GPl in exchange for the Parent
Company's shares of stock. One of these lots was recognized as part of real estate inventory - land
held for development as the land is being used for the Parent Company's BGC condominium project.

On February 15, 2022, the Parent Company's Board of Directors confirmed its November 16, 2021
approval of the reclassification of the Baguio property previously classified as real estate inventories
= land held for development, and of a condominium unit in lcon Residences Tower 1 previously
classified as real estate inventories to investment properties due to the change in their use and in
management's view of improving the value of the property over time.

On March 21, 2023, the Parent Company's Board of Directors confirmed its December 20, 2022
approval of the reclassification of parking units in Icon Plaza amounting to P26,237,985 and
P18,310,000 in 2023 and 2022, respectively {see Note 10) from investment properties to real estate
inventories as these properties are committed to be sold to several buyers,

In June 30, 2023, the Parent Company repossessed a condo unit and recognized a loss on
repossession amounting to P3,524,627 (see Note 23). It was then sold within the same month for
P12,293,134.

Certain real estate inventories are mortgaged as collaterals to loans (see Note 14).
The cost of real estate inventories sold recognized in the consolidated statements of total

comprehensive income amounted to P90,154,100, P106,296,787 and, P113,172,007 in 2023, 2022
and 2021, respectively.

8. Prepayments and Other Current Assets

This account consists of:

o 2023 2022
Creditable withholding tax P320,913,002 P308,916,089
Prepaid expenses 67,986,287 23,739,449
Prepaid taxes 52,218,439 38,632,394
Deposits 4,984,691 4,984,691
Others 17,056,932 37,157,533

P463,159,351 P413,430,156

Creditable withholding tax pertains to taxes withheld by the Group’s customers in accordance with
tax regulations which remained unutilized as at the end of the reporting period. This can be utilized
by the Group as a deduction from future income tax obligations.

Prepaid taxes include unutilized creditable withholding taxes which the Company opted for refund
with the Bureau of Internal Revenue and tax certificates.

Prepaid expenses cansist of advance payment to contractors, rent, real property tax, insurance
premium and membership dues.

Deposits pertain to refundable deposits paid to utility companies. These also include security
deposits paid in relation to an office lease agreement.

()

41 2023 ANNUAL REPORT




PHILIPPINE REALTY AND HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9.

Investments in and Advances to Associates

Details of the ownership interests in associates as at December 31 are as follows:

2023 2022
Meridian Assurance Corporation {MAC) 0% 30%
Le Cheval Holdings, Inc. (LCHI) 45% 45%
Alexandra (USA), Inc. {AUI) 45% 45%
Details of investments in and advances to associates are as follows:
2023 2022
Meridian Assurance Corporation
Investment - acquisition cost P88,875.080 P&8,875,080
Release of investment (7,045,222) {7.045,222}
Investment - acquisition cost 81,829,858 81,829,858

Accumulated equity in net loss:
Balance at beginning of year

{23,718,877)

(22,287,577)

Equity in net loss for the year {1,799,380) {1,431,300)
Balance at end of year {25,518,257) {23,718,877)
P56,311,601 P58,110,981
Le Cheval Holdings, Inc.
Investment - acquisition cost P11,250 P11,250
Allowance for impairment loss {11,250 {11,250}
P- P-
Accumulated equity in netincome:
Balance at beginning of year P125,14% P125,149
Equity in net loss for the year - -
Balance at end of year 125,149 125,149
P125,149 P125,149
Alexandra {USA)}, Inc.
Investment - acquisition cost P14,184,150 P14,184,150
Allowance for impairment loss (14,184,150) {14,184,150}
Advances to AU 132,417,765 132,417,765
Allowance for unrecoverable advances {132,417,765) (132,417,765}
P56,436,750 P58,236,131

Allowance for impairment loss pertains to the company's investments in associates that have
ceased operations or in process of liquidation.
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Aggregated amounts relating to associates are as follows:

2023 2022
Meridian Assurance Corporation (MAC)
Total assets P351,413,031 P370,799,653
Total liabilities {26,887,253) (32,697,486}
Net assets 324,525,778 338,102,167
Income 2,811,091 9,900,997
Cost and expenses {15,818,365) {14,577,798)
Net loss P13,007,274 {P4,676,801)
Le Cheval Holdings, Inc. (LCHI}
Total assets P45,362 P45,362
Total liabilities 142,248 142,248
Net liabilities {96,886) (96,886)
Income - -
Cost and expenses 5 -
Net loss P- P-

The following are the principal activities of the Group’s Associates:

Meridian Assurance Corporation

MAC was incorporated and registered with the SEC on March 16, 1960, renewed on November 13,
2007, primarily to engage in the business of insurance and guarantee of any kind and in all branches
except life insurance, for consideration, to indemnify any person, firm or corporation against loss,
damage or liability arising from any unknown or contingent event, and to guarantee liabilities and
obligations of any person, firm or corporation and to do all such acts and exercise all such powers as
may be reasonably necessary to accomplish the above purposes which may be incidental.

On July 7, 2021, MAC received a letter frem the insurance commission confirming MAC’s withdrawal
from the insurance business. It is also stated in the letter that MAC is no longer required to submit
annual financial statements and other documentary requirements to the commission starting
financial year-end 2021. As at December 31, 2022, MAC is in the process of preparing the necessary
documents for the amendment of its Articles of Incorporation and By-laws for filing with the SEC and
IC. Thereafter, the Company plans to engage in the business of asset management. In 2023, the
Company’s application for amendment of its Articles of Incorporation and By-laws is still in process
with SEC.

The registered office of MAC is Unit E-20038 East Tower, Tektite Towers (formerly Philippine Stock
Exchange Centre}, Exchange Road, Ortigas Center, Pasig City.

Le Cheval Holdings, Inc.
LCHI, which was incorporated and registered with the SEC on August 30, 1994 as a holding company
is inactive,

Alexandra (USA), Inc.

AUl was incorporated in the United States of America {USA). AUl is inveolved in property development
in Florida, USA. AUl is jointly owned with GP{ {45%} and Warrenton Enterprises Corporation {10%) of
William Cu-Unjieng. AUl is in the process of liquidation.
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10. investment Properties

Investment properties consist of:

Note 2023 2022
Cost
Balance, beginning P2,089,668,160 P2,096,426,618
Additions 3,939,956 30,030,586
Reclassified to real estate inventories 7 {26,237,985) (18,310,000)
Reclassified to investment in finance lease - {18,479,044)
Balance, ending 2,067,370,131 2,089,668,160
Accumulated unrealized holding gain - 3,096,177,257 2,836,797,113
P5,163,547,388 P4,926,465,273
Details of the cost of investment properties are as follows:
2023 2022
BGC P846,000,000 P846,000,000
Tektite East Tower 537,280,346 536,346,957
Baguic 402,443,016 299,436,449
Tektite West Tower 183,603,423 183,603,423
Thelcon Plaza 53,665,168 79,903,153
San Fernando City, La Union 33,859,578 33,859,578
Icon Residences Tower 1 10,518,600 10,518,600
P2,067,370,131 P2,089,668,160

BGC

On June 22, 2021, the Parent Company received two BGC lots from GPI in exchange for the Parent
Company's shares of stock. One of these lots was recognized as part of investment properties as

the land has undetermined use as of the reporting date and will be held for capital appreciation.

Tektite Towers East Tower and West Tower

In 2020, the Company acquired condominium units and parking spaces at the East Tower and West

Tower of Tektite Towers,

Baguio

This property is being leased to PPMI under a lease agreement which is renewed annually.

The lcon Plaza

On March 21, 2023, the Parent Company's Board of Directors confirmed its December 20, 2022
approval of the reclassification of several parking units in lcon Plaza from investment properties to
real estate inventories as these properties have been sold/are committed to be sold to several
buyers.

San Fermando, La Union

On November 29, 2021, the Parent Company cancelled its Contract to Sell agreement dated
December 18, 2014 with Humboltbay Heldings, Inc for the San Fernando, La Union lot originally
classified as investment property prior to sale. The Parent Company incurred a loss on sale
cancellation of investment property amounting to P87,996,422 million {see Note 23).

5an Juan, La Union
In December 2023, the Parent Company cancelled its Contract to Sell agreement dated December
18, 2014 with Hurnboltbay Holdings, Inc for the San Juan, La Union lot originally classified as
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investment property prior to sale. After the sales cancellation, the parcel of land was sold to a third
party. The sale was completed in December 2023 and the Company recognized a gain on sale
amounting to P128 million {see Note 20).

Details of the accumulated unrealized fair value gain are as follows:

2023 2022

Accumulated unrealized holding gain
Tektite East Tower P1,167,654,757 P1,047,126,177
BGC 738,000,000 738,000,000
Tektite West Tower 622,030,122 566,540,552
San Fernando, La Union 211,947,822 295,480,822
Baguio 151,492,984 106,542,795
The Ilcon Plaza 94,290,172 72,345,367
lcon Rasidences Tower 1 10,761,400 10,761,400
P3,096,177,257 P2,836,797,113

The movements in accumulated unrealized fair value gainin 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Note 2023 2022
Beginning balance P2,836,797,113 P2,309,928,821
Increase 20 259,380,144 526,868,292
Total P3,086,177,257 P2,836,797,113

Details of the carrying amount of investment properties are as follows:

2023 2022

Carrying amount of investrment properties

BGC P1,971,808,058 P1.852,368,018

Tektite East Tower 1,317,126,505 1,315,105,116
Baguio 1,024,473,138 965,977,001
Tektite West Tower 495,551,245 479,084,245
The Icon Plaza 205,158,152 186,445,948
San Fernando, La Union 128,150,290 106,204,945
lcon Residences Tower 1 21,280,000 21,280,000

P5,163,547,388 P4,926,465,273

An independent valuation of the Company’s investment properties was performed by qualified
appraisers as of December 27, 2023 and February 18, 2024 to determine their fair values. The
external independent appraiser used sales comparison approach in arriving at the value of the
properties. In this approach, the values of the properties were determined based on sales and
listings of comparable properties. This is done by adjusting the differences between the subject
property and those actual sales and listings regarded as comparable. The properties used as bases
of comparison are situated within the immediate vicinity or at a different floor level of the same
building. Comparison would be premised on factors such as location, size and physical attributes,
selling terms, facilities offered and time element.

Rental income recognized from the investment properties in 2023, 2022 and in 2021 amounted to
P65,466,246, P56,674,800 and P55,302,865, respectively. Real property taxes attributable to the
investment properties in 2023, 2022 and 2021 amounted to P6,970,788, P7,870,171 and P§,327,454,
respectively and are included as part of taxes and licenses in cost of services. Condominium dues
attributable to the investment properties in 2023, 2022 and 2021 amounted to P10,254,996,
P8,395,079 and P9,823,728, respectively and are included also in cost of services.
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Certain investment properties are mortgaged as collateral to loans (see Note 14).

11. Property and Equipment

The details of the carrying amounts of property and equipment, the gross carrying amounts, and
accumulated depreciation and amortization of property and equiprment are shown below:

_For the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

Condominium Office  Transportation
Units, Building Furniture, ,Machineryand Leaseholdand
and Building Fixtures and Other Office

Improvements Equipment Equipment  Improvements Total
Cost
January 1, 2022 P101,527,199 P28,783.,860 P63,686,024 P1,221,181 P195,618,264
Additions S 2,093,451 S S 2,093,451
Adjustments 2,650,014 - - S 2,650,014
Disposals - {244,955} = - (244,955}
December 31, 2022 104,577,213 30,632,356 63,686,024 1,221,181 200,116,774
Additions = 2,551,328 38,146,712 = 40,698,040
Disposals C (58,482) {11,404,302) s (11,462,784)
December 31, 2023 104,577,213 33,125,202 90,428,434 1,221,181 229,352,030
Accumulated depreciation
January 1, 2022 38,304,759 28,687,741 54,453,850 1,128,406 122,574,796
Provision 11,269,593 1,429,613 4,702,709 92,775 17,494,690
Disposals - {249,817) - - {249,817}
Adjustments - {24,861} & - (24,861)
December 31, 2022 49,574,352 29,842,676 59,156,599 1,221,181 139,794,808
Provision 3,138,362 1,468,008 4,156,074 = 8,762,444
Disposals S (38,988) (10,647,268) S {10,686,256)
December 31, 2023 52,712,714 31,271,696 52,665,405 1,221,181 137,870,996
Carrying Amount
At December 31, 2022 P55,002,861 P789,680 P4,529,425 P- P&0,321,966
At December 31, 2023 P51,864,499 P1,853,506 P37,763,029 P- P91,481,034

Certain transportation equipment of the Group with total carrying value of P35.93 million and P2.27
million as at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively are pledged as security under chattel
mortgage (see Note 14).
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12. Leases

A. Rights-of-use assets

The Parent Company leases two parcels of land located at 5™ Avenue corner 24* Street and
5% avenue corner 25" Street, Bonifacio Global City, Taguig City. These contracts have a
term of fifteen {15) years, ranewable for another ten {10) years upon submission of a written
notice to renew at least ninety days prior to the expiration of the original term, with terms
and conditions mutually agreed by both parties.

The Parent Company alsc leases Unit 10A in lcon Plaza located 26™ Street, Bonifacio Global
City, Taguig City. The contract has a term of five {5) years and is renewable upon mutual
agreement of both parties.

The carrying amount of right-of-use assets as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 is shown

below.
2023 2022
Right-of-use assets P133,840,828 P132,987,647
Accumulated depreciation (46,220,916} (35,573,046}
P87,6159,912 P97,414,601
Amaounts recognized in profit or loss:
Notes 2023 2022
Depreciation expense 21,22 P10,647.871 P10,496,270
Interest expense 8,131,867 8,824,235

B. Investment in finance lease

The Parent Company entered into a sublease contract relating to one of the parcels of land
being leased in BGC as discussed above. This agreement was assessed by the management
to be of a finance lease and is renewable at the end of the lease term of initially fifteen {15}

years upon mutual consent of the parties.

Amounts receivable under finance lease 2023 2022
Year1 P24,449,088 P23,672,896
Year 2 24,856,576 24,449,088
Year3 25,671,552 24,856,576
Year 4 26,099,392 25,671,552
Year 5 26,955,072 26,099,392
Onwards 104,293,824 131,248,896
Undiscounted lease payments 232,325,504 255,998,400
Present value of minimum lease payments receivable P187,577,530 P201,677,275
Less: current portion 15,606,638 14,099,824
Investment in finance lease —net of current portion P171,970,892 P187,577,451

Interest income recognized in profit or loss amounted to P9,573,151, P10,229,536, and
P11,816,719in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively (see Note 19).
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C. Leaseliabilities

A maturity analysis of lease liabilities under both lessee and lessor based on the total cash
flows is reported in the table below:

2023 2022
- Undiscounted Discounted Undiscounted Discounted
Right-of-use assets - -
Less than 1 year P11,812,050 P8,098,430 P11,812,050 P7.726,363
More than 1 year 86,244,653 71,884,151 98,056,703 79,982,581
98,056,703 79,982,581 109,868,753 87,708,944
Finance lease
Lessthan 1 year 11,160,000 7,471,735 11,160,000 7,115,095
More than 1 year 85,560,000 71,208,663 96,720,000 78,680,398
96,720,000 78,680,398 107,880,000 85,795,493
P194,776,703  P158,662,979  P217,748,753 P173,504,437

D. Short-term operating leases as lessor

The Group entered into short-term lease agreements including condominium units, office
spaces, food plaza spaces and parking spaces. The lease contracts between the Group and
its lessees have a term of one (1} to which are renewable annually.

Total rental income earned in 2023, 2022 and 2021 amounted to P65,466,246, P56,674,800
and P55,302,865, respectively.

Deferred rental income amounting to P43,608,343 and P40,425,411 as of December 31,
2023 and 2022, respectively, pertains to advance rent received from lessees to be applied
on the last three (3) months of the lease contract.

Refundable deposits on these lease agreements amounted to P19,306,580 and P17,242,595
in 2023 and 2022, respectively, and are included as part of trade and other payables (see

Note 13).

13. Trade and Other Payables

This account consists of:

Note 2023 2022

Non-trade payables P54,628,754 P55,865,807
Accrued expenses 26,033,544 60,875,331
Refundable deposits 1z 19,306,580 17,242,595
Customers’ deposits 16,593,017 22,485,042
Retention fee payable 14,629,535 21,682,353
Due to government agencies 5,782,849 8,360,308
Trade payables 2,050,231 7,640,712
Others 272,163 53,249
139,296,673 195,205,397

Less; non-current portion 76,059,054 84,851,214

P63,237,619

P110,354,183
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Non-trade payables consist of transfer fees and retention commission payable.

Accrued expenses consist of accrual for costs of outside services, insurance, supplies, tax and
other legal expenses.

Customers' deposits consist of down payments representing less than 25% of the contract
price of the condominium units soid which are deductible from the total contract price.

Retention fee payable pertains to retention fees withheld from the contractors of ongoing
projects.

Due to government agencies consist mainly of payable to the Bureau of Internal Revenue, 5855,
HDMF and PhilHealth.

14. Loans and Note Payable

The movements in the loans and notes payable are summarized as follows:

Balance at beginning of year
Availments ofloan

2023

2022

PB894,423,364
2,018,581,702

P812,460,289
1,013,706,633

_Payments of principal {1,710,985,337)  (931,743,558)
Balance at end of year P1,202,019,729 P894,423,364
The loans and notes payable are composed of the following:
2023 2022
Payable within one year:
Parent Company
Philippine National Bank P350,000,000 P250,000,000
Philippine Bank of Communications 472,985,126 413,706,633
Union Bank of the Philippines 5.927.594 1,583,107
RCBC Savings Bank 596,175 536,450
Subsidiary
___RCBC Savings Bank 158,255 896,804
P829,668,150 P666,722,994
2023 2022
Payable after one year:
Parent Company
Philippine Bank of Communications P344,794,867 P226,260,165
Union Bank of the Philippines 26,152,493 706,599
RCBC Savings Bank 1,404,219 574,351
Subsidiary
RCBC Savings Bank - 159,255
372,351,579 227,700,370
P1,202,019,729 P894,423,364
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Philippine National Bank (PNB)

The Parent Company availed new interest-bearing loans with total principal amount of P1.4
billion and P650 million in 2023 and 2022, respectively, payable within three {3} months subject
to extension upon lapse of the maturity date. These loans are secured by certain real estate
inventories with the carrying amount of P135.4 million (see Note 7).

Philippine Bank of Communications (PECom)

In 2017, the Parent Company entered into a long-term credit facility agreement with PBCom,
consisting of a P500 million interest-bearing Term Loan. Drawdowns under this credit facility
are payable within five (5) years from the date of drawdown payable quarterly in arrears. As at
December 31, 2022 the said Term Loan was fully paid. Accordingly, the collaterals securing the
Term Loan had been released.

In 2019, the Parent Company entered into a long-term credit facility agreement with PBCom,
PBCom approved an interest-bearing Term Loan under which the Parent Company drew down
P500 million in 2019, These loans are payable within six (6) years from the date of drawdown
payable quarterly in arrears and secured by certain investment properties mortgaged in favor of
PBECom with the total carrying amount of P398.2 million and P390.4 million as of December 31,
2023 and 2022, respectively.

In 2020, PBCom approved an interest-bearing Loan Line amounting to P300 miillion available for
drawings in the form of 180-day promissory notes {(PNs} payable at maturity of the PNs. The
principal payment is on the maturity date of the PNs.

In 2021, PBCOM approved an interest-bearing Contract to Sell Financing line amounting to P300
million available for drawings. The Parent Company drew down P141.83 milliort and P114 million
in 2023 and 2022, respectively, payable at maturity of the deed of undertaking and are secured
by certain receivables assigned in favor of PBCom amounting to P216 million and P190 million as
at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively (see Note 6).

In 2023, PBCom approved an interest-bearing Term Loan amounting to P3.8 billion with initial
draw of P150 million payable within five (5) years payable annually. This loan was availed
specifically to fund the Casa Unico Project.

In 2023, PBCom approved an interest-bearing Loan Line amounting to P300 million available for
drawings in the form of 180-day promissory notes (PNs} payable at maturity of the PNs. This
was secured by a lot with carrying amount of P345.8 million as of December 31, 2023 {see Note
10}

Union Bank of the Philippines (UBP)

In 2023, the Parent Company availed interest-bearing car foans from Union Bank payable in
installment within sixty (60) months, These loans are secured by the vehicle acquired under this
facility {see Note 11).

RCBC Savings Bank (RCBC)

In July 2017, the Parent Company availed an interest-bearing car loan from RCBC Savings Bank
payable in installment within sixty (60) months. These loans are secured by the vehicle acquired
under this facility {see Note 11). This was fully paid as of December 31, 2022.

In 2023, the Parent Company availed interest-bearing car loans from RCBC Savings Bank
payable in installment within sixty (60) months. These loans are secured the vehicles acquired
under this facility (see Note 11).
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Totalinterest on the above loan agreements charged to profit or loss amounted to P61,951,600,
P54,819,311 and P60,124,456 in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Interest on loans payable
capitalized as part of the cost of real estate development amounted to P15,383,994in 2023. The
capitalization rate used was 7.43%.

RCBC Savings Bank (RCBC)

In 2019, PPMI availed of a five-year interest-bearing note payable amounting to P3,744,000 from
a local bank to finance the purchase of transportation equipment. The loan was obtained in
February 2019 and will mature in February 2024. The loan was fully paid on February 15, 2024.

Interest expense charged to profit or loss amounted to P74,007 and P165,525 in 2023 and

2022, respectively.

15.

Relsted Party Transactions

The details of related party transactions and balances are as follows:

As at and for the year ended Outstanding
December 31, 2023: Transactions balance Terms and conditions
Trade receivables The receivables are secured with
Stockholder related units until full payment.
Greenhills Properties, Inc.
Sale of parking space P-
Collections during the year - P51,892,140
Advances
Alexandra (USA}, Inc., Advances to subsidiaries and
Associate _ 132,417,765 associates are unsecured, non-
Le Cheval Holdings, Inc. interest bearing and to be settled in
Associate - 122,248 -
Less: Allowance for
__impairment loss = 132,540,013
Balance, net 5 =
Key management personiel Key management Includes
Short-term benefits - S directors (executive and non-
Salaries and other short- executive) and executive officers.
termemployee benefits 38,481,536 - Short-termbenefits are payable
Post-employment benefits - _ monthly and post-employment
Provision for retirement z?;fz::e CLLL e
benefits/PVO 7,466,814 -
As at and for the year ended Outstanding
December 31, 2022: Transactlons balance Terms and conditions
Trade receivables
S imateiRarent Company The recelvables are secured with
Greenhills Properties, Inc. related units until full payment.
Sate of parking space P-
Collections during the year S P51,892,140
Forward
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As at and for the year ended Outstanding
December 31, 2022: Transactions balance Terms and condltions
Advances Advances to subsidiaries and
Alexandra {USA), Inc., associates are unsecured, non-
Associate - 132,417,765 interest bearing and to be settled
Le Cheval Holdings, Inc., in cash,
Associate - 122,248
Less: Allowance for
impairment loss E 132,540,013 -
Balance, net - -
Key management personnel Key management includes
Short-term benefits = = directors (executlve and non-
Salaries and other short- executive) and executive officers.
term employee benefits 43,439,819 - Short-term benefits are payable
Post-employment benefits s S =7 e e s
. A benefits are payable upon
Provision for retirement retirement
benefits/PVQO 7,869,438 S
Management Services

PPMI provides general management services and financial management and suparvision over
the janitorial and security services for the efficient administration of the properties of GPl, a
stockholder, and third parties, collectively referred herein as property owners. In consideration
for said services, PPMI charges the property owners a fixed monthly amount, with a 10%
escalation rate annually. These management contracts are renewable for a period of two (2) to
three {3} years upon mutual agreement of both PPMI and the property owners.

Receivable

PPMI leases its offlce premises from its Parent Company a period of one ({1} year, renewable
upon mutual consent of both parties. Rent expense charged te profit or loss amounted to
P304,632in 2023 and 2022 {see Note 21).

Advances to related parties

The Parent Company’s substantial receivables from AUI, an associate, which is intended to fund
the latter's working capital requirement, represents non-interest-bearing advances with no
fixed term with the option to convert to equity in case of increase in capital. Advances
contributed by AUI's stockhclders were in accordance with the percentage of ownership of the
stockholders in AUL. As previously mentioned, AUl is in the process of liquidation {See Note 9).

16.

Retirement Benefit Plans

The Parent Company and Tektite Insurance Brokers, Inc, {TIBl) operate funded, non-
contributory defined benefit retirement plans covering substantially all of their regular
employees. The plans are administered by local banks as trustee and provide for a lump-sum
benefit payment upon retirement. The benefits are based on the employees’ monthly salary at
retirement date multiplied by years of credited service. No other post-retirement benefits are
provided.

PPMI has an unfunded, noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan.

Through their defined benefit retirement plans, the Group is exposed to a number of risks, the
most material of which are detailed below:
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»  Asset volatility - The plan liabilities are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to
corporate bond yields; if plan assets underperform this yield, this will create a deficit.

e nflation risk - Some of the Group retirement obligations are linked to inflation, and higher
inflation will lead to higher liabilities {although, in most cases, caps on the level of inflationary
increases are in place to protect the plan against extreme inflation). The majority of the
plans’ assets are either unaffected by {fixed interest bonds) or loosely correlated with
{equities) inflation, meaning that anincrease in inflation will also increase the deficit.

The most recent actuarial valuation of plan assets and the present value of the defined benefit
obligation were carried out by an independent actuary on February 23, 2024, February 28, 2024
and March 1, 2024 for the year ended December 31, 2023 and February 28, 2023 for the year
ended December 31, 2022. The present value of the defined benefit obligation, and the related
current service cost were measured using the Projected Unit Credit Method,

Key assumptions used for the Parent Company:

Valuationat
2023 2022
Discount rate 6.10% 7.22%
Future salary increase 4.00% 4.00%
Key assumptions used for PPMI:
Valuation at
2023 2022
Discount rate 6.10% 7.22%
Future salary increase 6.00% 6.00%
Key assumptions used for TIBE
Valuation at
B 2023 2022
Discount rate 5.87% 5.21%
Future salary increase 5.00% 5.00%

Assumptions regarding future mortality and disability are set based on actuarial advice in
accordance with published statistics and experience.

The reconciliation of the present value of the defined benefit obligation (DBO} and the fair value
of the plan assets to the recognized liability presented as accrued retirement liability in the
consolidated statements of financial position is as follows:

2023 2022
Present value of defined benefit obligation P121,003,805 P94,301,784
Fair value of plan assets ~ {35,368,121) {27,348,299)
Recognized liability P85,635,684 P66,953,485

()
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The movements in the present value of defined benefit obligation are shown below:

- 2023 2022
Liability at beginning of year P34,301,784 P99,028,667
Current service cost 10,309,836 12,174,121
Interest cost 6,602,564 4,642,214
Remeasurement gains
Changes in financial assumptions 11,266,396 (20,097,390}
Changes based on experience (937,495) (1,357,585}
Benefits paid from company reserves B {539,280) (88,243)
Liability at end of year 121,003,805 P94,301,784
The movements in the plan assets are shown below:
) 2023 2022
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year P27,348,299 P28,098,491
Interestincome 2,098,892 1,185,166
Actual contribution 7,000,000 -
Remeasurement loss {1,079,070) {1,935,358)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year P35,368,121 P27,348,299

The main categories of plan assets as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

2023 2022
Cash and cash equivalents P28.,873,687 P21,863,161
Equity instruments 6,480,332 5,453,747
Accrued interest 63,821 58,134
Liabilities {49,719) {23,743}

P35,368,121

P27,348,299

The retirement expense recognized in profit or loss consists of:

2023 2022 2021
Current service cost P10,309,836 P12,174,121 P12,438,972
Net interest on defined benefit liability 4,503,672 3,457,048 2,934,913
P14,813,508 P15,631,169 P15,373,885

The provision for retirement benefits is recognized under general and administrative expenses
in the consolidated statements of total comprehensive income (see Note 22).

The sensitivity analysis of the defined benefit obligationis:

Increase Effect on defined

{decrease}in benefit

e - basis points obligation
Discount rate 1.00% {(P10,554,291)
{1.00%) 12,520,867

Future salary increase 1.00% 12,621,614
{1.00%) (10,815,275)
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The above sensitivity analyses are based on changes in principal assumption while holding all
other assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the
assurnptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit
obligation to material actuarial assumptions the same method {present value of the defined
benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting
period) has been applied as when calculating the retirement liability recognized in the
consolidated statements of financial position.

The BOD reviews the level of funding required for the retirement fund. This includes the asset-
liability matching (ALM} strategy and investment risk management policy. The Group's ALM
objective is to match maturities of the plan assets to the retirement benefit obligation as they
fall due. The Group monitors how the duration and expected yield of the investments are
matching the expected cash outflows arising from the retirement benefit obligation.

As of December 31, 2023, the weighted average duration of defined benefit obligation are 9.90,
12.50 and 2.50 years for Parent Company, PPMI and TIBI, respectively (2022: 8,10, 11.50 and
2.80 years, respectively).

17. Management Fees and Other Services Fees

The Group provides general management services and financial management and supervision
over the janitorial and security services through PPMI. In consideration for the said services,
PPMI charges the property owners a fixed monthly amount with a 10% escalation rate annually.
These management contracts are rengwable for a period of two {2} to three (3} years upon
mutual agreement of both PPM! and the property owners. PPMI is entitled to fixed
reimbursement of actual cost of the on-site staff. The total income from management fees and
other services fees amounted to P41.20 million, P34.66 million and P36.78 million in 2023, 2022
and 2021, respectively.

18. Commission

The Group derives commission income from insurance brokerage through TIBI which amounted
to P5.22 million, P5.57 million and P4.51 millionin 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

19. InterestiIncome

The Group's interest income was derived from the following:

Note 2023 2022 2021

Sublease 12 P9,573,151 P10,229,536 P11,816,719
Penalty for late payments & 2,815,144 4,305,819 4,127,556
Cash and cash equivalents 5 1,327,085 494,516 495,270
Trade receivables 319,564 431,600 619,736
Qthers 15,857 463,022 345,339
P14,050,801 P15,924,493 P17,404,620
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20. OtherIncome

The account consists of:

Notes 2023 2022 2021
Gain on change in fair value of
investment properties 10 P25%,380,144 P526,868,292 P610,925,892
Gain on sale of investment properties 10 128,065,333 = -
Reversal of allowance for impairment
losses on receivables & 25,000,000 = s
Gain on money market investments 61,811 = -
Dividend income 5 - 1,953,910 =
Foreign exchange gain - 1,952,441 1,434,240
Galn on repossession of real estate
inventories - 1,498,643 14,287,462
Gain on money market investments - - 34,652
Others 14,039,669 8,236,429 10,484,867
P426,546,957 P540,509,715 P&37,167,113
21. Costof Services
The account consists of:
- Note 2023 2022 2021
Salaries, wages, and other benefits P22,332,559 P18,387,056 P20,657,116
Condominium dues 10 10,254,996 8,395,079 9,823,728
Depreciation and amortization on
ROU assets 1z 9,537,930 8,763,860 8,466,620
QOutside services 8,238,708 6,774,278 4,063,409
Taxes and licenses 7,082,369 7,949,813 8,595,591
Utilitles 6,405,401 4,804,628 4,167,232
Commission 3,054,398 1,630,729 627,766
Insurance and bond premiums 2,155,302 2,052,286 2,131,294
$85, Pag-IBIG and other contributions 2,031,418 1,459,167 1,558,212
Repairs and maintenance 1,423,249 649,308 1,492,363
Communication 492,331 532,221 618,175
Rental 1z 304,632 304,632 561,943
Employees' welfare 53,753 64,823 101,192
Others 1,142,155 783,218 5,898,819
P74,909,201 P62,551,098 P68,763,460

Others include various expenses that are individually immaterial.
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2_2. E‘ieneral and Administrative Expenses

The account consists of:

Note 2023 2022 2021
Salaries, wages, and other benefits P65,670,871 P71,586,651 P5%,048,790
Taxes and licenses 92,729,926 64,020,284 44,916,582
Professional fees 28,917,983 21,799,851 21,423,175
Marketing expense 26,435,882 33,285,461 40,531,274
Transportation and travel 16,654,189 34,324,100 15,408,094
Provision for retirement benefits 16 14,813,508 15,631,169 15,373,885
Depreciation and amortization
Property and equipment 11 8,762,444 17,494,691 12,981,031
RO assets 12 709,941 1,732,410 1,155,868
555, Pag-IBIG, Medicare and other
benefits 8,127,483 5,528,706 5,761,900
Insurance and bond premiums 8,012,471 7,295,002 12,445,616
Qutside services 8,004,499 6,726,186 5,809,893
Condominium dues 4,408,640 5,351,072 8,069,082
Repairs and maintenance 4,320,622 5,461,617 5,919,526
Provision for impairment loss on trade
and other receivables ) 2,863,554 27,589,342 24,559,812
Utilities 2,569,246 1,838,395 1,879,823
Postage and communication 2,459,827 2,455,107 2,377,689
Representation and entertainment 870,586 916,823 770,962
Supplles and materials 323,620 168,221 3,120,464
Rental 40,909 516,225 86,844
Membership dues - 697,754 -
_Miscellaneous 10,924,061 14,045,958 13,269,083
P307,660,262 P338,465,029 P304,443,005
23. Other Expenses
The account consists of:
Note 2023 2022 2021
Loss on repossession of real estate
properties 7 P3,524,627 P- P-
Bank charges 971,640 144,637 48,161
Foreign exchange loss 402,230 = -
Loss oh money market investment - 85,414 -
Loss on sale of property and
equipment - = 38,793
Loss on cancellation of sale of
investment property 10 s s 87,996,422
Loss on sublease 12 0 3 2,769,442
P4,898,497 P230,051 P50,852,818
57
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24. Income Taxes

The components ofincome tax expense are as follows:

2023 2022 2021

Current P4,874,336 P1,755,527 P120,471
Deferred 59,621,911 123,403,970 59,517,853
P64,496,247 P125,159,497 P59,638,324

The reconciliation of the provision for income tax expense computed at the statutory rate to
the provision shown in the consclidated statements of total comprehensive income is as

follows:
2023 2022 2021
Income before income tax P177,365,206 P305,547,988 P252,377.845
Income tax expense using statutory tax
rate P44,341,301 P76,336,592 P63.646,131
Additions to {reductions in) income tax
resulting from the tax effects of:
Non-deductible expenses 17,534,397 18,144,504 14,305,124
Movement on unrecognized deferred
tax assets 1,959,011 31,723,767 64,500,157
Unrecognized net operating loss carry-
over (NOLCO) 1,120,162 1,120,162 848,363
Limit on interest expense 78,884 30,250 29,423
Expired MCIT - 135,344 s
Retirermnent obligation - 46,860 51,560
Dividend income - {488,478} -
Book and tax difference in income tax
expanse due to CREATE - o {816,990}
Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
due to reduction inincorme tax rates under
CREATE - - {82,652,386)
Gain on changes in fair value of
investment property of a subsidiary (217,600) {1,766,400) {150,400}
Interest income subjected to final tax (319,908) {123,104) {122,698}
P64,496,247 P125,159,497 P59,638,324

The components of the deferred income tax assets {liabilities) recognized by the Group are as

follows:
2023 2022
Tax Base Deferred Tax Tax Base Deferred Tax
Deferred Tax Assets:
Retirement benefit
ebligation P81,503,968 P19,689,834 P78,526,024 P18,229,507
Deferred rent income 43,608,343 10,897,159 40,437,410 10,108,753
Book and tax basis
difference under PFRS 16 10,550,723 2,628,999 8,134,602 2,033,650
Impairment loss on
receivables 3,189,750 637,950 3,189,750 637,950
Unrealized foreign
exchange loss 52,732 13,183 = -
MCIT - - 75,183 75,183
138,905,516 33,867,125 130,362,96% 31,085,043
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2023 2022
Tax Basae Deferred Tax Tax Base Defarred Tax

Deferred Tax Liabilities:
Gain en change in fair

value of investment

properties {3,054,331,098) {763,582,774) (2,796,038,953} (699,009,737}
Gain on sublease {83,858,576) (20,964,644} (91,405,050} (22,851,262}
Retirement obligation

charged to OCI - - (15,436,655} {3,087,331)
Unrealized gain on

repossession of real

estate inventories {(9,244,982) (2,311,246} (9,244,982} {2,311,246)
Accrued rent receivable (1,765,295) (441,324} (1,765,295} {441,324)
Unrealized foreign

exchange gain - - (349,498} (87,374}

(3,149,199,951} {787,299,988) {2,914,240,433} (727,788,274)
{P3,010,294,435) {P753,432,863) (P2,783,877,463) (P&96,703,231)

The recognized deferred tax assets were from the Parent Company and PPMI.

The Group's unrecognized deferred tax assets pertain to the following:

2023 2022
Tax Base Deferred Tax Tax Base Deferred Tax
NQLCO P496,152,562 P89,138,108 P463,814,777 P116,046,159
Allowance for impairment
loss on receivables 361,308,516 124,796,819 385,622,756 95,974,451
Allowance for impairment
loss on investments in
subsidiaries and
associates 55,618,196 12,119,549 55,618,196 12,119,549
MCIT 6,711,389 6,711,389 5,287,421 5,287,421
Accrued retirement
benefit expense 4,131,716 826,343 3,864,116 772,823

P923,922,379 P233,592,208 P914,207,266 P230,200,403

Detail of the Group’s NOLCO which can be claimed as deduction from future taxable income is

as follows:

_ YearIncured  Expirydate Amount Applied Expired Balance
2023 2026 P31,915,467 P- B P31,915,467
2022 2025 95,688,923 o s 95,688,923
2021 2026 255,733,127 - = 255,733,127
2020 2025 112,815,045 - - 112,815,045

P496,152,562 P- P- P456,152,562

In accordance to Section 4 of Revenue Regulations No, 25-2020 issued on September 30, 2020,
the business or enterprise which incurred net operating loss for taxable years 2020 and 2021
shall be allowed to carry over the same as a deduction from its gross income for the next five (5)
consecutive taxable years immediately following the year of such loss.
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Details of the Group’s MCIT which can be claimed as deduction from future taxable income is as

follows:
Year Incurred Expiry date _Amount Applied Expired Balance
2023 2026 P4,217.650 P- P- P4,217,650
2022 2025 1,701,073 {75,183) = 1,625,890
2021 2024 867,849 s - 867,849
2020 2023 2,108,581 - (2,108,581} =
P 8,895,153 (P75,183) (2,108,581} P6,711,389

Impact of the Corporate Recovery and Tax Incentives for Enterprises Act (CREATE)

On March 26, 2021, the President signed into law the “Corporate Recovery and Tax Incentives
for Enterprises Act” or "CREATE", which seeks to reduce the corporate income tax rates and to
rationalize the current fiscal incentives by making it time-bound, targeted, and performance-
based.

The following are certain provisions of the law that had an impact on the Group's financial
statements.

¢ Reduced RCIT rate effective July 1, 2020 of 20% or 25%
*  Reduced MCIT rate of 1% effective July 1, 2020 until June 30, 2023,

As mentioned above, the reduction in income tax under CREATE took effect on July 1, 2020.
However, Philippine Interpretations Committee issued Questions and Answers No. 2020-07, in
which it stated that the CREATE Law is considered to be not substantively enacted as of
December 31, 2020; accordingly, the current and deferred taxes for financial reporting
purposes as of December 31, 2020 are measured using the regular income tax rate in effect as
of December 31, 2020, which is 30%. The difference was reflected as adjustment to the current
income tax for the year ended December 31, 2021 in accordance with PAS 12, Income Taxes.

25. Capital and Treasury Stock

Movements in the Group's capital stock are as follows:

December 2022 January 2022
{As restated— (As restated —
2023 Note 29) Note 29)
Authorized
16,000,000,000 common shares
at PO.50 par value P8,000,000,000 F8,000,000,000 P8,000,000,000
Issued and outstanding

7,866,647,523 shares in 2023 and 2022

3,688,86%,745 shares in 2020

3,933,323,762

3,933,323,762

3,933,323,762

Subscribed

1,314,711,262 shares 657,355,632 657,355,632 657,355,632

Subscriptions receivable -
Capital Stock (157,478,973} {157,478,973) {157,490,223)
_ Subscription receivable - APIC {157,478,973) {157,478,973) {157.490.223)
342,397,686 342,397,686 342,375,186
Capital Stock 4,275,721,448 4,275,721,448 4,275,698,248
Additional paid-in capital 780,630,029 780,630,029 780,630,029
Total Capital Stock P5,056,351,477 P5,056,351,477 P5,056,328,977
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Details of the Group's treasury stock are as follows:

2023 - 2022 2021
Treasury Stock
82,049,497 common shares with
average cost of P1.34 per
share P110,049,633 P110,049,633 P110,049,633
26. Reserves )
This account consists of:
December 2022 January 2022
(Asrestated - {As restated—
Note 2023 Note 29) Note 29}
Appropriated retained earnings for:
Treasury stock acquisitions P105,712,439 P109,712,438 P109,712,439

Revaluation on FYQC!

Balance at beginning of year (25,606,702) (24,038,272) (20,672,288)
Movements during the year (878,903]) (1,568,430) (3,365,984}
Balance at end of year 5 (26,485,605) (25,606,702) {24,038,272)
Remeasurement. gain (loss} on

retirement benefit obligation
Balance at beginning of year (18,575,075} (33,473,053} {44,735,989)
Adjustment 46,784 - {2,637,009)
Actuarlal gain {loss) durlng the year -

gross (11,395,861} 19,519,617 18,852,265
Tax effect 2,874,640 (4.621,639} {4,252,320)
Balance at end of year (27,049,512} (18,575,075) {33,473,053)

P56,177,322 P65,530,662 P52,201,114

The Parent Company's retained earnings amounting to P109,712,439 is appropriated to cover
the cost of the treasury shares.

27. Non-controlling Interast

This pertains to equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the parent.
Details are as follows:

December 2022 January 2022
{Asrestated - (As restated —
2023 Note 29} Note 29)
Universal Travel Corporation
January 1 {P7,240,458) {P7,230,871) (P7,223,932)
Sharein netloss {11,796) {9,587} {6,939)
December 31 {7.252,254) {7,240,458) {7,230,871)

Recon-X Energy Corporation

January 1 (34,300,000} {31,610,760) (20,072,695)
Adjustment - - (9,551,131}
Sharein net loss - - {2,689,240) (1,986,934)
December 31 (34,300,000) (34,300,000} {31,610,760)

(P41,552,254) {(P41,540,458) {P38,841,631)
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28. Basic Earnings Per Share

_ 2023 2022 2021
Net income attributable to equity
holders of Parent Company P112,880,755 P183,087,319 P194,733,394
Weighted average no. of common
shares issued and cutstanding - 9,099,509,288 9,099,309,288  9,099,309,288
Basic earnings per share P0.01 P0.02 P0.02

The weighted average number of common shares issued and cutstanding was computed as

follows:
2023 2022 2021
Issued and outstanding shares 7.866,647,523 7,866,647,523 7.866,647,523
Subscribed shares 1,314,711,262 1,314,711,262 1,314,711,262
Treasury shares {82,049,497) {82,049,497) {82,049,497)
Average number of shares 9,099,309,288 9,099,309,288 9,099,309,288

The Group has no potential dilutive shares as at December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.

29. Restatement

The following reconciliation shows the effects of the Company's reclassification of certain

equity amounts as at January 1, 2022:

As previously
reportad
{January 1, 2022)

Statements of Financial Position

Capital stock

Additional paid-in capital

Retained earnings
_Non-controlling interest

P4,433,189,171
623,139,806
1,349,807,235

20,042,311

Asrestated
{January 1,
Adjustments - 2022)
(157,490,223} P4,275,698,948
157,490,223 780,630,029
18,799,320 1,368,606,555
18,799,320 38,841,631

In 20186, the Parent Company undertook a quasi-reorganization which involved the reduction of
the par value of the company’s shares from P1.00 to P0.50 per share, and the use of the resulting
additional paid-capital to wipe out the company's deficit. The adjustrnent above pertains to the
effect of the quasi-reorganization on unpaid subscriptions as of December 31, 2023.

30. Provisions and Contingencies

The Group is a party to legal claims that arise in the ordinary course of business, the outcome of
which is not presently determinable. The Group and its legal counsel, however, believe that final
settlement, if any, will not be material to the Group's financial results.
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31. New and Amended Standards

Adoption of Amendments to Standards

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are consistent
with those of the Group's financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 except
for the adoption of the following new standards and amended PFRS which became effective
beginning January 1, 2023 Unless otherwise indicated, none of these had a material effect on
the financial statements.

*  Amendments to PAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current affect only the
presentation of liabilities in the statement of financial position — not the amount or timing
of recognition of any asset, liability income or expenses, or the information that entities
disclose about those items. They clarify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence at the end of the reporting period
and align the wording in all affected paragraphs to refer to the "right” to defer settlement by
at least twelve months and make explicit that only rights in place "at the end of the reporting
period" should affect the classification of a liability;

+  clarify that classification is unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will
exercise its right to defer settlement of a liability; and

*  make clear that settlement refers to the transfer to the counterparty of cash,
equity instruments, other assets or services.

* Amendments to PAS 8, Definition of Accounting Estimates focus entirely on accounting
estimates and clarify the following:

+  The definition of a change in accounting estimates is replaced with a definition of
accounting estimates. Under the new definition, accounting estimates are
“monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty”.

+ Entities develop accounting estimates if accounting policies require items in
financial statements to be measured in a way that involves measurement
uncertainty.

+ A change in accounting estimate that results from new information or new
developments is not the correction of an error. In addition, the effects of a change
in an input or a measurement technique used to develop an accounting estimate
are changes in accounting estimates if they do not result from the correction of
prior period errors,

+ A change in an accounting estimate may affect only the current period’s profit or
loss, or the profit or loss of both the current period and future periods. The effect of
the change relating to the current period is recognized as income or expense in the
current period. The effect, if any, on future periods is recognized as income or
expense in those future periods.

¢ Amendments to PAS 1 and PFRS Practice Statement 2, Disclosure iInitiative = Accounting
Policiesamends the following:

* An entity is now required to disclose its material accounting policy information
instead of its material accounting policies;

+ several paragraphs are added to explain how an entity can identify material
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accounting policy information and to give examples of when accounting policy
information is likely to be material;

+ the amendments clarify that accounting policy information may be material
because of its nature, even if the related amounts are immaterial;

+  the amendments clarify that accounting policy information is material if users of an
entity's financial statements would need it to understand other material
information in the financial statements;

+ the amendments clarify that if an entity discloses immaterial accounting policy
information, such information shall not obscure material accounting policy
information; and

+ adds guidance and examples to explain and demonstrate the application of the
“four-step materiality process" to accounting policy information in order to
support the amendments to PAS 1.

=  Amendments to PAS 12, Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities from a Single
Transaction include an exemption from the initial recognition exemption provided in PAS
12.15(b} and PAS 12.24. Accordingly, the initial recognition exemption does not apply to
transactions in which equal amounts of deductible and taxable temporary differences arise
on initial recognition.

s  Amendments to PAS 12, /nternational Tax Reform — Fillar Two Model Rules are:

+  An exception to the requirements in PAS 12 that an entity does not recognize and
does not disclose information about deferred tax assets and liabilities related to the
OECD pillar two income taxes. An entity has to disclose that it has applied the
exception.

+ A disclosure requirement that an entity has to disclose separately its current tax
expense {income) related to pillar two income taxes.

+  Adisclosure requirement that state that in periods in which pillar two legislation is
enacted or substantively enacted, but not yet in effect, an entity discloses known or
reasonably estimable information that helps users of financial statements
understand the entity's exposure to pillar two income taxes arising from that
lagislation.

+ The requirement that an entity applies the exception and the requirement to
disclose that it has applied the exception immediately upon issuance of the
amendments and retrospectively in accordance with PAS 8.

New and Amended Standards Not Yet Adopted.

A number of new and amended standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods
beginning after January 1, 2023 and have not been applied in preparing the financial statements.
Unless otherwise indicated, none of these is expected to have a material effect on the financial
statements. The Company will adopt the following new and amended standards and
interpretations on the respective effective dates:

*  PFRS 17, /nsurance Contracts and Amendments to PFRS 17, /nitial Application of PFRS 17
and PFRS 9 — Comparative Information add a new transition option to PFRS 17 (the
“classification overlay”} to alleviate operational complexities and cne-time accounting
mismatches in comparative information between insurance contract liabilities and related
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financial assets on the initial application of PFRS 17.

On December 15, 2022, the FRSC amended the mandatory date of PFRS 17 from January 1,
2023 to January 1, 2025 to be consistent with Circular Letter No. 2020-62 issued by the
Insurance Commission which deferred the implementation of IFRS 17 by two {2) years after
its effective date as decided by the IASB. This also, in effect, extends the mandatory date of
the amendments by two years. This is still subject to approval of the Board of Accountancy.

s  Amendments to PAS 7 and PFRS 7, Supplier Finance Arrangements describes the
characteristics of an arrangement for which an entity is required to provide the
information. Entities will have to disclose in the notes additional about:

+ The terms and conditions of the supplier finance arrangements;
+ Forthe arrangements, as at the beginning and end of the reporting period:
a}The carrying amounts of financial liabilities that are part of the
arrangement and the associated line item presented;
b)The carrying amount of financial liabilities disclosed under a} for which
suppliers have already received payment from the financial providers;
¢} The range of payment due dates of financial kabilities disclosed under a)
and comparable trade payables that are not part of a supplier finance
agreeament; and
+ The type and effect of non-cash changes in the carrying amounts of the financial
liabilities that are part of the arrangement.

This amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024 with
transition reliefs provided.

* Amendments to PAS 1, Non-current Liabilities with Covenants modifies the requirements
introduced by Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current on how an entity
classifies debt and other financial liabilities as current or non-current in particular
circumstances: Only covenants with which an entity is required to comply on or before the
reporting date affect the classification of a liability as current or non-current. In addition, an
entity has to disclose information in the notes that enables users of financial statements to
understand the risk that non-current liabilities with covenants could become repayable
within twelve months.

The amendments are effective for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024,
The amendments are applied retrospectively in accordance with PAS 8.

*  Amendments to PFRS 16, Lease Liabilily in a Sale and Leaseback requires the seller-lessee
to subsequently measure lease liabilities arising from a leaseback in a way that it does not
recognize any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains. The new
requirements do not prevent a seller-lessee from recognizing in profit or loss any gain or

loss relating to the partial or full termination of a lease.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024,
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32. Material Accounting Policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in
the consolidated financial statements.

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Parent
Company and entities controlled by the Parent Company, the subsidiaries, up to December 31
each year. Detalls of the subsidiaries are shown in Note 37.

The consolidated financial statements were prepared using uniform accounting policies for like
transactions and other events in similar circumstances. Inter-company balances and
transactions, including inter-company profits and unrealized profits and losses, are eliminated.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. The Parent Company controls an
entity when the Parent Company is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to
the Parent Company. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

On acquisition, the assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary are measured at
their fair values at the date of acquisition. Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair
values of the identifiable net assets acquired is recognized as goodwill. Any deficiency of the
cost of acquisition below the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired i.e. discount on
acquisition is credited to profit and loss in the period of acquisition. The interest of minority
shareholders is stated at the minority's proportion of the fair values of the assets and liabilities
recognized. Subsequently, any losses applicable to the minority interest in excess of the
minority interest are allocated against the interests of the Parent Company.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of controf

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions - that is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners.
For purchases from non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid
and the relevant share acquired of the carryving value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded
in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Parent Company is in a position to exercise material
influence, but not control or joint control, through participation in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee.

A joint arrangement is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake an
economic activity that is subject to joint control, and a joint venture is a joint arrangement that
involves the establishment of a separate entity in which each venturer has an interest.

An investment is accounted for using the equity method from the day it becomes an associate
or joint venture. The investment is initially recognized at cost. On acquisition of investment, the
excess of the cost of investment over the investor's share in the net fair value of the investee's
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is accounted for as goodwill and included in
the carrying amount of the investment and not amortized. Any excess of the investor's share of
the net fair value of the associate's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over
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the cost of the investment is excluded from the carrying amount of the investment, and is
instead included as income in the determination of the share in the earnings of the investees.

Under the equity method, the investments in the investee companies are carried in the
consolidated statements of financial position at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the
Parent Company's share in the net assets of the investee companies, less any impairment
losses. The consolidated statements of total comprehensive income reflect the share of the
results of the operations of the investee companies. The Parent Company’s share of post-
acquisition movements in the investee's equity reserves is recognized directly in equity. Profits
and losses resulting from transactions between the Parent Company and the investee
companies are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the investee companies and for
unrealized losses to the extent that there is no evidence ofimpairment of the asset transferred.
Dividends received are treated as a reduction of the carrying value of the investment.

The Group discontinues applying the equity method when their investments in investee
companies are reduced to zero. Accordingly, additional losses are not recognized unless the
Group has guaranteed certain obligations of the investee companies. When the investee
companies subsequently report net income, the Group will resume applying the equity method
but only after its share of that net income equals the share of net losses not recognized during
the period the equity method was suspended,

The reporting dates of the investee companies and the Group are identical and the investee
companies’ accounting policies conform to those used by the Group for like transactions and
events in similar circumstances. Upon loss of material influence over the associate, the Group
measures and recognizes any retaining investment at its fair value. Any difference between the
carrying amount of the associate upon loss of material influence and the fair value of the
retaining investment and proceeds from disposalis recognized in profit or loss.

Business Combination

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an
acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at
acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For
each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree
at fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed
and included in administrative expenses. When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at
the acquisition date.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date
through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognized at fair value at
the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration
which is deemed to be an asset or liability will be recognized in accordance with PAS 39 either in
profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is
classified as equity, it should not be remeasured until it is finally settled within equity.

Seament Information

The Group's operating segments are organized and managed separately according to the
nature of the products and services provided, with each segment representing a strategic
business unit that offers different products and serves different markets. Financial information
on operating segments is presented in Note 36 to the financial statements. The Chief Executive
Officer (the chief operating decision maker) reviews managerent reports on a regular basis.
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The measurement policies the Group used for segment reporting under PFRS 8 are the same as
those used in the financial statements. There have been no changes in the measurement
methods used to determine reported segment profit or loss from prior periods. Al inter-
segment transfers are carried out at arm’s length prices.

Segment revenues, expenses and performance include sales and purchases between business
segments. Such sales and purchases are eliminated in consolidation.

For management purposes, the Group is currently organized into five business segments.
These divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its primary segment formation.

The Group's principal business segments are as follows:

Sale of Real Estate and Leasing

Property Management

Insurance Brokerage

Holding Company

Travel Services {discontinued as of July 31, 2018)

o a0 oo

The Group's resources producing revenues are all located in the Philippines. Therefore,
geographical segment information is not presented,

Financial Assets and Liabilities

Financial Assets

Initial recognition and Measurement

The Group recognizes a financial asset in the consolidated statements of financial position when
it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument. In the case of aregular
way purchase or sale of financial assets, recognition is done using settlernent date accounting.
Financial assets are recognized initially at fair value of the consideration given. The initial
measurement of financial assets, except for those designated as at FVPL, includes transaction
costs.

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets, at initial recognition, in the following categories:
financial assets at amortized cost, financial assets at FVOCI and financial assets at FVYPL. The
classification depends on the business madel of the Group for managing the financial assets and
the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to initial recognition unless the Group changes
its business model for managing financial assets in which case all affected financial assets are
reclassified on the first day of the reporting period following the change in the business model.

Financial Assets at Amortized Cost. A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets
both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVPL:

® it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets to collect
contractual cash flows; and

® its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial measurement, the financial assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method, less any allowance for impairment. Amortized cost is
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calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition, and fees that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when
the financial assets are reclassified to FVPL, impaired or derecognized, as well as through the
amortization process.

The Group's cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and refundable deposits are
included under this category.

Financial Assets at FVOC! fequity instruments). Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to
classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity instruments designated at fair value
through OCI when they meet the definition of equity under PAS 32, Financial Instruments:
Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-
instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are
recognized as other income in the consolidated statement of total comprehensive income when
the right of payment has been established, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds
as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recordedin
OCI. Equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI are not subject to impairment
assessment,

The Group's financial assets at fair value through OCI include investments in quoted and
unguoted equity instruments and proprietary club shares.

Financial Assets at FVPL. Financial assets at FVPL include financial assets held for trading,
financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial
assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified as held
for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading
unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with cash flows
that are not solely payments of principal and interest are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt
instruments to be classified at amortized cost or at fair value through OCI, as described above,
debt instruments may be designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if
doing so eliminates, or materialy reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the consolidated statements of
financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.

The Group's investments in equity instruments at FVPL are classified under this category.

Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar
financial assets) is primarily derecognized when:

= The right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired; or

= The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either: {a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset; or {b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered

into a pass-through arangemaent, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and
rewards of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
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rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues te recognize the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognizes the associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured onthe basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is
measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Groupis required to repay.

Impairment

The Group recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments
not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Company expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest
rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other
credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

For trade receivables on sale of real estate, the Group applies a general approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the general approach, ECLs are recognized in three (3) stages as follows:

¢ Stage 1: For credit exposures for which there has not been a material increase in credit risk
since initial recognition and there is no default that occurred, a 12-month ECL is provided
for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12 months,

®  Stage 2: For credit exposures for which there has been a materialincrease in credit risk since
initial recognition and there is still no default that occurred, a loss allowance equivalent to
lifetime ECL is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure.

e Stage 3: For credit exposures for which there has been a material increase in credit risk since
initial recognition and for which an actual default has also occurred, a loss allowance
equivalent to lifetime ECL is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of
the exposure.

The key inputs in the model include the Group's definition of default and historical data of two (2)
material projects with an average of five {5) years for the origination, maturity date and default
date. The Group considers trade receivables on sale of real estate in default when contractual
payment are 30 days past due, except for certain circumstances when the reason for being past
due is due to reconciliation with customers of payment records which are administrative in
nature which may extend the definition of default to 90 days and beyond. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts
in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there has been a material increase in credit
risk for financial assets since initial recognition by comparing the risk of default occurring over
the expected life between the reporting date and the date of initial recognition. The Group
considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue
cost or effort for this purpose. This includes quantitative and qualitative information and
forward-looking analysis.

The Group considers that there has been a material increase in credit risk when contractual
payments are more than 90 days past due.

An exposure will migrate through the ECL stages as asset quality deteriorates. If, in a
subsequent period, asset quality improves and also reverses any previously assessed material
increase in credit risk since origination, then the loss allowance measurement reverts from
lifetime ECL to 12- months ECL.
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For cash and cash equivalents, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification. The
probability of default and loss given defaults are publicly available and are considered to be low
credit risk investments, However, when there has been a material increase in credit risk since
origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECL. The Group uses the ratings from
publicly available sources to determine whether the debt instrument has materially increased in
cradit risk and to estimate ECLs.

The Group considers a debt investment security to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating
is equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’.

For trade receivables on lease and other financial assets such as accrued receivable, receivable
from related parties and advances to other companies, impairment provisions would be based
on the assumption that the receivable is demanded at the reporting date and it would reflect the
losses {if any} that would result from this. Since the receivables are collectible on demand, the
contractual period is the very short period needed to transfer the cash once demanded.
Discounting would have immaterial effect in the balances,

Financial Liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings
and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabifities include trade and other payables, finance lease liability and loans
payable.

Subsequent measurement
The measurement of financial hiabilities depends on their classification, as described below:

Loans and borrowings

This is the category most relevant to the Group. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans
and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the EIR method. Gains and
losses are recognized in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the
EIR amortization process.

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and
fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included as finance
costs in the statement of total comprehensive income.

This category generally applies to short term and long term debt.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability
and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is
recognized in the consolidated statements of total comprehensive income.
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Determination of Fair Value
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements
are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level
input that is material to the fair value measurement as a whole:

s Level 1: quoted prices {unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

¢ Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

s Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Group determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-
assessing the categorization at the end of each reporting period.

Offsetting Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the
consclidated statements of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal
right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Prepayments
Prepayments represent expenses not yet incurred but already paid in cash. Prepayments are

initially recorded as assets and measured at the amount of cash paid. Subsequently, these are
charged to income as they are consumed in operations or expire with the passage of time.

Prepayments are classified in the consclidated statements of financial position as current asset
when the cost of goods or services related to the prepayment are expected to be incurred
within one (1} year or the Group's normal operating cycle, whichever is longer. Qtherwise,
prepayments are classified as non-current assets.

Real Estate Inventories

Property acquired or being developed for sale in the ordinary course of business, rather than to
be held for rental or capital appreciation, is held as inventory and is measured at the lower of
cost and net realizable value.

Cost includes amounts paid to contractors for construction, borrowing costs, planning and
design costs, costs of site preparation, professional fees, property transfer taxes, construction
overheads and other related costs.

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of the business, based
on market prices at the reporting date, less costs to complete and the estimated costs to sell.

The cost of inventory recognized in profit or loss on disposal is determined with reference to the
specific costs incurred on the property sold and an allocation of any non-specific costs based on
the relative size of the property sold.

The provision account, if any, is reviewed on a monthly basis to reflect the reasonable valuation
of the Group's inventories. Inventory items identified to be no longer recoverable is written-off

and charged as expense for the period.

Real estate held for development is measured at lower of cost and NRV. Expenditures for
development and improvements of land are capitalized as part of the cost of the land. Directly
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identifiable borrowing costs are capitalized while the development and construction is in
progress.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are initially measured at cost which consists of its purchase price and
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use and
are subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation, amortization and
impairment losses, ifany.

Subsequent expenditures relating to an item of property and equipment that have already been
recognized are added to the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future
economic benefits, in excess of the originally assessed standard of performance of the existing
asset, will flow to the Group. All other subsequent expenditures are recognized as expenses in
the period in which those are incurred.

Depreciation is computed cn a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets
as follows:

Number of years
Condominium units 20
Building 25
Building improvements 5tc 10
Office furniture, fixtures and equipment 3te 10
Transpertation and other equipment 5
Leasehold and office improvements 5

The assets’ residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation and amortization methods
are reviewed periodically to ensure that the amounts, periods and methods of depreciation and
amortization are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of
property and equipment.

Fully depreciated assets are retained in the accounts until they are no longer in use and no
further charge for depreciation is made inrespect of those assets.

Derecognition

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal at which time, the cost and their related
accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts. Gain or loss arising on the disposal
or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or loss.

Investment Properties

Investment preperties comprised completed property and property under development or re-
development that are held to earn rentals or capital appreciation or both and that are not
occupied by the Group. Investment property is initially measured at cost incurred in acquiring
the asset and subsequently stated at fair value. Revaluations are made with sufficient regularity
by external independent appraisers to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ
materially from that which would be determined using fair value at the end of the period. The
external independent appraiser uses sales comparison approach in arriving at the value of the
properties. In this approach, the value of the properties is based on sales and listings of
comparable properties. This is done by adjusting, the differences between the subject property
and those actual sales and listings regarded as comparable. The properties used as bases of
comparison are situated within the immediate vicinity or at different floor levels of the same
building. Compariscn would be premised on factors such as location, size and physical
attributes, selling terms, facilities offered and time element.
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A gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value of investment property is recognized in
profit or loss for the period in which it arises.

Atransfer is made to investment property when there is a change in use, evidenced by ending of
owner-occupation, commencement of an operating lease to another party or ending of
construction or development,. A transfer is made from investment property when and only when
there is a change in use, evidenced by commencement of owner-accupation or commencement
of development with a view to sale. A transfer between investment property, owner-occupied
property and inventory does not change the carrying amount of the property transferred nor
does it change the cost of that property for measurement or disclosure purposes.

Derecognition

Investment properties are derecognized when either they have been disposed of, or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is
expected from its disposal. Any gain or loss on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property is recognized in the consolidated statements of total comprehensive income in the
year of retirement or disposal.

Impairment of Non-financial Assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that any of its non-
financial assets may have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss.

The recoverable amount of the non-financial asset is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current markst
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognized as an expense.

When an impairment loss reverses subsequently, the carrying amount of the asset is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognized in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss.

Equity

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the
Parent Company after deducting all of its liabilities. Distribution to the Parent Company’s
shareholders is recognized as a liability in the Group's consolidated financial statements in the
periodin which the dividends are approved by the Parent Company’s Board of Directors.

Capital stock

Capital stock is classified as equity when there is no obligation to the transfer of cash or other
assets. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown
in equity as a deduction from the proceeds, net of tax.

Additional paid-in capital
Additional paid-in capital pertains to premium paid over the par value of shares.
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Retained earnings

Retained earnings include all the accumulated income {loss) of the Group, dividends declared
and share issuance costs. Retained earnings is net of amount offset from additicnal paid-in
capital arising from the quasi-recrganization.

Treasury stock

The Parent Company's equity instruments which are reacquired (treasury shares} are
recognized at cost and deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated
statements of total comprehensive income on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Parent Company's own equity instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount and
the consideration, if reissued, is recognized in additional paid-in capital. Voting rights related to
treasury shares are nullified for the Group and no dividends are allocated to them respectively.
When the shares are retired, the capital stock account is reduced by its par value and the excess
of cost over par value upon retirement is debited to additional paid-in capital when the shares
were issued and to retained earnings for the remaining balance.

Employee Benefits

Short-term benefits

The Group recognizes a liability net of amounts already paid and an expense for services
rendered by employees during the accounting period. Short-term benefits given by the Group
to its employees include salaries and wages, social security contributions, short-term
compensated absences, bonuses and non-monetary benefits,

Post-empioyment benefits

The Group's net obligation in respect of its defined benefit plan is calculated by estimating the
amount of the future benefit that employees have earned in the current and prior periods,
discounting that amount and deducting the fair value of any plan assets.

The calculation of the defined benefit obligation (DBO} is performed on a periodic basis by a
qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method. When the calculation results in a
potential asset for the Group, the recognized asset is limited to the present value of economic
benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future
contributions to the plan.

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses,
the return on plan assets {excluding interest} and the effect of the asset ceiling {if any,
excluding interest), are recognized immediately in OCl. The Group determines the net interest
expense {income) on the net defined benefit liability {asset} for the period by applying the
discount rate used to measure the DBO at the beginning of the annual period to the then net
defined benefit liability (asset), taking into account any changes in the net defined liability
{asset) during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Net interest
expense and other expenses related to the defined benefit plan are recognized in profit or loss.

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resuiting change in
benefit that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognized immediately
in profit or loss.

The Group recognizes gains and losses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the
settlement occurs.
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Revenue Recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from real estate sales

The Parent Company primarily derives its real estate revenue from the sale of vertical real
estate projects. Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when control of the
goods or services are transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Parent Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

The disclosures of material accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions relating to
revenue from contracts with customers are provided in Note 33,

The Parent Company derives its real estate revenue from sale of condominium units. Revenue
from the sale of these real estate projects under pre-completion stage are recognized over
time during the construction period {or percentage of completion} since based on the terms
and conditions of its contract with the buyers, the Parent Company's performance does not
create an asset with an alternative use and the Parent Company has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

In measuring the progress of its performance obligation over time, the Parent Company uses
the output method. The Parent Company recognizes revenue on the basis of direct
measurements of the value to customers of the goods or services transferred to date, relative
to the remaining goods or services promised under the contract. Progress is measured using
survey of performance completed to date. This is based on the monthly project
accomplishment report prepared by the third-party surveyor as approved by the construction
manager which integrates the surveys of performance to date of the construction activities for
both sub-contracted and those that are fulfilled by the developer itself.

Revenue from sales of completed real estate projects is accounted for using the full accrual
method.

Any excess of collections over the recognized receivables are included in the "Deposits and
other current liabilities” account in the liabilities section of the consolidated statements of
financial position.

If any of the criteria under the full accrual or percentage-of-completion method is not met, the
deposit method is applied until all the conditions for recording a sale are met. Pending
recognition of sale, cash received from buyers are presented under the “Deposits and other
current liabilities” account in the liabilities section of the consclidated statements of financial
position.

Cancellation of real estate sales
The Group reverses the previously recognized revenue and related costs.

The Group also derives its revenue from management fee, commission, rental and interest
income for which the Group assessed that there is only one performance obligation. Revenue
from contracts with customers is recognized at a point in time when control of the goods or
services are transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

Management fee

Management fee is recognized when the related services have been performed in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the management agreement and applicable policies,
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Commission income

Commission income is recognized when the real estate and insurance brokering services have
been performed in accordance with the terms and conditions of the agreement, commission
scheme and applicable policies. Commission income recognized is the amount earned as an
agent and excludes amounts collected on behalf of the principal.

interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time proportion basis by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that discounts estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying
amount.

Rentalincorne

Rent income from operating leases is recognized as income on a straight-line basis over the
termn of the relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an
operating lease are also spread on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Miscellaneous incormne
Miscellaneous income is recognized when earned.

Cost recognition from real estate sales

Cost of real estate sales is recognized consistent with the revenue recognition method applied
and is determined with reference to the specific, including estimated costs, on the property
allocated to sold area. Cost of residential and commercial lots and units sold before the
completion of the development is determined on the basis of the acquisition cost of the land
plus its full development costs, which include estimated costs for future development works,
as determined by the Parent Company's in-house technical staff.

Estimated development costs include direct land development, shared development cost,
building cost, external development cost, professional fees, post construction, contingency,
miscellaneous and socialized housing. Miscellaneous costs include payments such as permits
and licenses, business permits, development charges and claims from third parties which are
attributable to the project. Contingency includes fund reserved for unforeseen expenses and/
or cost adjustments. Revisions in estimated development costs brought about by increases in
projected costs in excess of the original budgeted amounts are considered as special budget
appropriations that are approved by management and are made to form part of total project
costs on a prospective basis and allocated between costs of sales and real estate inventories.

Cost and Expense Recognition

Costs and expenses are recognized in profit or loss when a decrease in future economic benefit
related to a decrease in an asset or an increase in a liability has arisen that can be measured
reliably. Costs and expenses are recognized in profit or loss on the basis of: {i} a direct
association between the costs incurred and the earning of specific items of income; (i}
systematic and rational allocation procedures when economic benefits are expected to arise
over several accounting periods and the association with income can only be broadly or
indirectly determined; or {iii} immediately when an expenditure produces no future economic
benefits or when, and to the extent that, future economic benefits do not qualify or cease to
qualify for recognition in the consolidated statements of financial position as an asset.

Cost and expenses in the consolidated statements of total comprehensive income are
presented using the function of expense method. General and administrative expenses are
costs attributable to general, administrative and other business activities of the Group.
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Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of an asset that

necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalized as part of the cost of the respective assets. All other borrowing costs are expensed
in the period in which they were incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs
that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Borrowing costs are capitalized from the commencement of the development work until the
date of practical completion. The capitalization of borrowing costs is suspended if there are
prolonged periods when development activity is interrupted. If the carrying amount of the asset
exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recorded.

Leases

The Group as Lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The
Group recognizes a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all
lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with
a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets {such as tablets and personal
computers, small items of office furniture and telephones). For these leases, the Group
recognizss the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of
the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not
paid at the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate
cannot be readily determined, the lessee uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

+ Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable;

e Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the
index or rate at the commencement date;

*  The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise
the options; and

e Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise
of an option to terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statements of financial
position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect
interest on the lease liability {using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying
amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related
right-of-use asset} whenever:

*  The lease term has changed or there is a material event or change in circumstances
resulting in a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate.
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e The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using an unchanged discount
rate {unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in
which case a revised discount rate is used).

s A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a
separate lease, in which case the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of
the madified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount
rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group did not make any such adjustments during the periods presented.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability,
lease payments made at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received
and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset,
restore the site on which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognized and measured under PAS 37.
To the extent that the costs relate to a right-of-use asset, the costs are included in the related
right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventeries,

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the
underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-
of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-
use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at
the commencernent date of the lease.

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the consolidated statements of
financial position.

The Group applies PAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts
for any identified impairment loss as described in the 'Property and Equiprnent’ policy.

Short-term leases with terms of less than 12 months or lease of low value assets are expensed
as incurred.

The Group as Lessor
The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect to some of its investment
properties.

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever
the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee,
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

When a contract includes lease and non-lease components, the Group applies PFRS 15 to
allocate the consideration under the contract to each component.

()

79 2023 ANNUAL REPORT




PHILIPPINE REALTY AND HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group as Sub-lessor
The Group is a sub-lessor {intermediate lessor) to one of its right-of-use assets.

An intermediate lessor classifies the sublease as a finance lease or an operating lease as follows:

If the head lease is a short-term lease, the sublease is classified as an operating lease

¢ Otherwise, the sublease is classified by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from
the head lease, rather than by reference to the underlying asset. A lease is classified as a
finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards from the right-of-use
asset resulting from the head lease; otherwise, it is classified as an operating lease.

For subleases classified as a finance lease, the intermediate lessor derecognizes the right-of-
use asset relating to the head lease that is transfers to the sublessee and recognizes the net
investment in the sublease; any difference between the right-of-use assets and the investment
in the finance sublease is recognized in profit or loss. At the commencement date, net
investment in the finance lease is measured at an amount equal to the present value of the lease
payments for the underlying right-of-use assets during the lease term. The lessor recognizes
finance income over the lease term, based on a pattern reflecting a constant period rate of
return on the lessor’'s net investment in the lease.

For subleases classified as operating lease, the intermediate lessor recognizes the lease income
from cperating leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The respective leased asset is
included in the statement of financial position based on its nature.

Income Tax

Income tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in
profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax expense is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted at the
reporting date. Management periodically evaluates positions in income tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognized on temporary difference arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using
tax rates {and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date and
are expected to apply when related deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred income
tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry-
forward of unused tax losses (net operating loss carryover or NOLCO} and unused tax credits
{excess minimum corporate income tax or MCIT) to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences, unused tax iosses and
unused tax credits can be utilized. The Group reassesses at each reporting date the need to
recognize a previously unrecognized deferred income tax asset.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is legally enforceable right to
offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets
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and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the same taxable
entity.

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

The Group determines whether to consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or
together with one or more other uncertain tax treatments. The approach that better predicts
the resolution of the uncertainty is followed.

The Group considers whether it is probable that the relevant authority will accept each tax
treatment, or group of tax treatments, that it used or plans to use in its income tax filing.

If the Group concludes that it is probable that a particular tax treatment is accepted, the
Company determines taxable profit {tax loss}, tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits
or tax rates consistently with the tax treatment included in its income tax filings.

If the Group concludes that it is not probable that a particular tax treatment is accepted, the
Group uses the most likely amount or the expected value of the tax treatment when
determining taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax
rates. The decision should be based on which method provides better predictions of the
resolution of the uncertainty.

Provisions and Contingencies

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation, either legal or constructive,
as aresult of a past event; when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and; when the amount of the obligation can be
estimated reliably. When the Group expects reimbursement of some or all of the expenditure
required to settle a provision, the entity recognizes a separate asset for the reimbursement only
when it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received when the obligationis settled.

The amount of the provision recognized is the best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. A provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation; its carrying amount is the present value of those
cash flows.

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best
estimate,

Contingent liabilities are not recognized because their existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the entity. Contingent liabilitles are disclosed, unless the possibility of an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits is remote.

Contingent assets are not recognized in the consclidated financial statements but are disclosed
when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Related Party Relationships and Transactions

Related party refationship exists when one party has the ability to control, directly, or indirectly
through one or more intermediaries, the other party or exercise material influence over the
other party in making financial and operating decisions. Such relationship also exists between
and/or among entities which are under common control with the reporting enterprise, or
between, and/or among the reporting enterprise and its key management personnel, directors,
or its shareholders. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed
to the substance of the relationship, and not merely the legal form.
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Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share

The Group computes its basic earnings per share by dividing net profit attributable to common
equity holders of the Parent Company by the weighted average number of common shares
issued and outstanding during the pericd.

Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential common shares.

Events After the Reporting Date

The Group identifies events after the reporting date as events that occurred after the reporting
date but before the date the consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue. Any
subsequent event that provides additional information about the Group's financial position at
the reporting date is reflected in the consclidated financial statements. Non-adjusting
subsequent events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when
material.

33.

Critical Accounting Judgments and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the reporting date, that have a material risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the reporting date, that have a material risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Revenue and cost recognition on real estate projects

The Parent Company’s revenue recognition and cost policies require management to make use
of estimates and assumptions that may affect the reported amounts of revenues and costs. The
Parent Company's revenue from real estate and construction contracts is recognized based on
the percentage of completion and are measured principally on the basis of the estimated
completion of a physical proportion of the contract work. Apart from involving material
estimates in determining the quantity of inputs such as materials, labor and equipment needed,
the assessment process for the POC is complex and the estimated project development costs
requires technical determination by management’s specialists (project engineers).

Similarly, the cornmission is determined using the percentage of completion.

Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables

The Group uses historical loss rates as input to assess credit risk characteristics. The Group
determines the appropriate receivables groupings based on shared credit risk characteristics
such as revenue type, collateral or type of customer. The historical loss rates are adjusted to
reflect the expected future changes in the portfolic condition and performance based on
economic conditions and indicators such as inflation and interest rates that are available as at
the reporting date.

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast

economic conditions (inflation and interest rates) and ECLs is a material estimate. The amount
of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The
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Group's historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be
representative of customer's actual default in the future.

The information about the ECLs on the Group's trade receivables is disclosed in Notes 6 and 35.

Evaluation of net realizable value of real estate inventories

The Parent Company adjusts the cost of its real estate inventories to net realizable value based
on its assessment of the recoverability of the assets. In determining the recoverability of the
assets, management considers whether those assets are damaged or if their selling prices have
declined. Likewise, management also considers whether the estimated costs of completion or
the estimated costs to be incurred to make the sale have increased. The amount and timing of
recorded expenses for any period would differ if different judgments were made or different
estimates were utilized.

Results of management’s assessment disclosed that there is no need for provision for
impairment of inventories as at Decernber 31, 2023 and 2022,

Estimating useful lives of assets

The useful lives of assets are estimated based on the period over which the assets are expected
to be available for use. The estimated useful lives of assets are reviewed periodically and are
updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical
or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the Group's assets. In
addition, the estimation of the useful lives is based on the Group's collective assessment of
industry practice, internal technical evaluation and experience with similar assets. it is possible,
however, that future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in estimates
brought about by changes in factors mentioned above. The amounts and timing of recorded
expenses for any period would be affected by changes in these factors and circumstances. A
reduction in the estimated useful lives of assets would increase the recognized operating
expenses and decrease non-current assets.

Post-employment and other employee benefits

The present value of the retirement obligations depends on a number of factors that are
determined on an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in
determining the net cost {income} for pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these
assumptions will impact the carrying amount of retirement obligations.

The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This is the Interest
rate that should be used to determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows
expected to be required to settle the retirement obligations. In determining the appropriate
discount rate, the Group considers the interest rates of government bonds that are
denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity
approximating the terms of the related retirement obligation.

Other key assumptions for retirement obligations are based in part on current market
conditions. Additional informationis disclosed in Note 16.

Retirement obligation as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 amounted to P85,635,684 and
P66,953,485, respectively.

Estimating fair value of investment property

The Group obtained the services of an independent valuer who holds a recognized and relevant
professional qualification and has recent experience in the location and category of the
investment properties being valued. An independent valuation of the Group's investment
properties was performed by appraisers to determine their fair values. The valuation was
determined by reference to sales and listing of comparable properties.
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Recoverability of deferred tax assets

The Group reviews the carrying amounts at each reporting date and reduces deferred tax assets
to the extent that it may be more prudent and conservative not to make a determination when
these deferred tax assets can be utilized. The Group considers that it is impracticable to
disclose with sufficient reliability the possible effects of sensitivities surrounding the utilization
of deferred tax assets.

Total unrecognized deferred tax assets amounted to P233,592,208 and P230,200,403 as at
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively {see Note 24).

impairment losses on non-financial assets

The Group performs an impairment review when certain impairment indicators are present.
Determining the fair value of non-financial assets, which require the determination of future
cash flows expected to be generated from the continued use and ultimate disposition of such
assets, requires the Group to make estimates and assumptions that can materially affect the
consolidated financial statermnents. Future events could cause the Group to conclude that non-
financial assets are impaired. Any resulting impairment loss could have a material adverse
impact on the financial position and results of operations.

Critical Accounting Judgments

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management has made the following
judgments, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most material effect on the
amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements:

Existencea of a contract

The Parent Company's primary document for a contract with a customer is a signed contract to
sell. It has determined, however, that in cases wherein contract to sell are not signed by both
parties, the combination of its other signed documentation such as reservation agreement,
official receipts, buyers’ computation sheets and invoices, would contain all the criteria to
qualify as contract with the customer under PFRS 15.

In addition, part of the assessment process of the Parent Company before revenue recognition
is to assess the probability that the Parent Company will collect the consideration to which it will
be entitled in exchange for the real estate property that will be transferred to the customer.

Collectability

In evaluating whether collectability of an amount of consideration is probable, an entity
considers the significance of the customer’s initial payments in relation to the total contract
price. Collectability is also assessed by considering factors such as past history with the
customer, age and pricing of the property. Management regularly evaluates the historical
cancellations and back-outs if it would still support its current threshold of customers’ equity
before commencing revenue recognition.

Revenue recognition method and measure of progress

The Parent Company concluded that revenue for real estate sales is to be recognized over time
because: {a) the Parent Company's performance does not create an asset with an alternative
use and; (b} the Parent Company has an enforceable right for performance completed to date.
The promised property is specifically identified in the contract and the contractual restriction on
the Parent Company's ability to direct the promised property for another use is substantive.
This is because the property promised to the customer is not interchangeable with other
properties without breaching the contract and without incurring material costs that otherwise
would not have been incurred in relation to that contract. In addition, under the current legal
framework, the customer is contractually obliged to make payments to the developer up to the
performance completed to date. In addition, the Parent Company requires a certain percentage
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of buyer's payments of total selling price {buyer's equity}, to be collected as one of the criteriain
order to initiate revenue recognition. Reaching this level of collection is an indication of buyer’s
continuing commitment and the probability that economic benefits will flow to the Parent
Company. The Parent Company considers that the initial and continuing investments by the
buyer of about 25% would demonstrate the buyer's commitment to pay.

The Parent Company has determined that output method used in measuring the prograss of the
performance obligation faithfully depicts the Parent Company's performance in transferring
control of real estate development to the customers.

Distinction between investment properties and owner-occupied properties and real estate
inventories and held for development

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as investment property. In making this
judgment, the Group considers whether the property generates cash flows largely independent
of the other assets held by an entity. Owner-occupied properties generate cash flows that are
attributable not only to property but also to the other assets used in the production or supply
process.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and
another portion that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. If these portions cannot be sold separately at the reporting date, the
property is accounted for as investment property only if an immaterial portion is held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. Judgment is
appliad in determining whether ancillary services are so material that a property does not qualify
as investment property. The Group considers each property separately in making its judgment.

The Group determines that a property will also be classified as real estate inventory when it will
be sold in the normal operating cycle or it will be treated as part of the Group's strateqic land
activities for development in the medium or long-term.

Contingencies

The Group is currently involved in various legal proceedings and tax assessments. Estimates of
probable costs for the resolution of these claims has been developed in consultation with
outside counsel handling the defense in these matters and is based upon an analysis of potential
results. The Group currently does not believe these proceedings will have a material adverse
effect on the financial position. It is possible, however, that future results of operations could be
materially affected by changes in the estimates or in the effectiveness of the Group's strategies
relating to these proceedings.

34. Fair Value Measurement

The fair values of the Group’s financial instruments are equal to the carrying amounts in the
consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Fair values have been determined for measurement and disclosure purposes based on the
following methods. When applicable, further information about the assumptions made in
determining fair values are disclosed in the notes to the consclidated financial statements
specific to that asset or liability.

The methods and assumptions used by the Group in estimating the fair value of the financial
instruments are as follows:
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Cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables — current portion carrying amounts
approximate fair values due to the relatively short-term maturities of these items.

Trade and other receivables-non-current portion carrying amounts approximate their fair
values as they are either priced using prevailing market rates or that the effect of discounting
has been considered.

Financial assets at FVPL and FVOC/ - these are investments in equity securities, fair value for
quoted equity securities is based on quoted prices published in markets as ofreporting dates.

Trade and other payables - the carrying value of trade and other payables approximate its fair
value either because of the short-term nature of these financial liabilities.

Loans payabie - carrying amounts approximate their fair values as they are either priced using
prevailing market rates or that the effect of discounting is not material.

The table below analyzes financial and non-financial assets measured at fair value at the end of
the reporting period by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement
is categorized:

December 31, 2023

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets at FVPL
Equity investrnents P6,750,000 P- P- P6,750,000
Financial assets at FYOC|
Equity investments 35,197,203 & S 35,197,203
December 31, 2022
] B Levell Levelz2 Level3 Total
Financial assets at FVPL
Equity investments P€,750,000 P- PE P&,750,000
Financial asset at FVOCI
Equity investments 36,076,106 S = 26,076,106

35.

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk, liquidity risk and credit
risk. The Group's overall risk management program seeks to minimize potential adverse effects
on the financial performance of the Group. The policies for managing specific risks are
summarized below.

The BOD has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group's risk
management framework. It monitors compliance with the risk management policies and
procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks
faced by the Group. Risk management policies and systemns are reviewed regularly to reflect
changes in market conditions.

The Group's risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by
the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to
limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in
rmarket conditions and the Group's activities. The Group, through its training and management
standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment
in which all erployees understand their roles and obligations.
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Market Risk

Foreign exchange risk

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies. Hence,
exposures to exchange rate fluctuations arise with respect to transactions denominated in US
dollar. Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognized assets
and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the Group's functional currency. Material
fluctuation in the exchange rates could materially affect the Group's financial position.

Foreign exchange risk exposure of the Group is limited to its cash and cash equivalents.
Currently, the Group has a policy not to incur liabilities in fereign currency. Construction and
supply contracts, which may have import components, are normally denominated in Philippine
peso.

The amounts of the Group's foreign currency denominated monetary assets at the reporting
date are as follows:

2023 2022
US dollar Pesoc US dollar Peso
Deposit Equivalent Deposit Equivalent
Cash and cash
equivalents $328,383 P18,248,577 $343,937 P19,301,749

The closing rates applicable as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 are P55.57 and P56.12 to US$1,
respectively.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the US
Dollar exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group's income in 2023 and
2022. The percentage changes in rates have been determined based on the average market
volatility in exchange rates, using standard deviation, in the previous 12 months at a 95%
confidence level.

+/- Effect on Equity
2023 0.19% P34,939
2022 0.79% P152,85%

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

The primary source of the Group's interest rate risk relates to its cash and cash equivalents, and
loans and note payable. The interest rates on cash and cash equivalents and loans and note
payable are disclosed in Notes 3 and 14, respectively.

Cash and cash equivalents are short-term in nature and with the current interast rate level, any
variation in the interest will not have a material impact on the profit or loss of the Group.

Management is responsible for monitoring the prevailing market-based interest rate and

ensures that the mark-up charged on its borrowings are optimal and benchmarked against the
rates charged by other creditor banks.
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The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the Group's profit or loss to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates of its cash and cash equivalents and loan with all other variables
held constant.

2023 2022
Effecton Effect on Profit
+/-%  Profit orLoss +-% orlLoss
Cashinbank 0.16% P434,956 0.06% P81,530
Cash equivalents 0.07% 7.877 1.07% 300,440
Loans and note
payable 1.19% (14,304,035} 1.64% (14,635,961}
{P13,861,202) {P14,253,991)
Price risk

Price risk is the risk that the fair value of the financial instrument particularly equity instruments
will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices {other than those arising from interest rate
risk or foreign currency risk), whether caused by factors specific to an individual investment, its
issuer or factors affecting all instruments tradedin the market.

The Group manages the equity price risk through diversification and by placing limits on
individual and total equity instruments. The Parent Company's Board of Directors reviews and
approves all equity investment decisions.

At December 31, 2023, the impact of 0.26% increase/decrease in the price of listed equity
securities, with all other variables held constant, would have been an increase/decrease of in the
Group's total comprehensive income and equity for the year of 2023 — P91,513 and 2022 -
P121,269 . The Group's sensitivity analysis takes into account the historical performance of the
stock market.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk refers to the risk in which the Group encounters difficulties in meeting its short-
term obligations.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and
reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and

matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

The Group maintains adequate highly liquid assets in the form of cash and cash equivalents to
assure necessary liquidity.
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The following tables detail the Group's remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative
financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The
table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

Contractual Obligation

Carrying Lessthan OnetoFive Morethan

Amount One Year Years  Five Years Total
2023 (n Thousand Pesos)
Trade and other payables* P133,514 P53,813 P72,289 P7.412 P133,514
Loans and note payable 1,202,020 861,004 416,765 = 1,277,769
2022 {In Thousand Pesos)
Trade and other payables* P186,730 P133.,630 P53,100 P- P186,730
Loans and note payable 894,422 706,637 238,793 s 245,430

*excluding payables to government

Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations
resulting in financial loss to the Group.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its cash and cash equivalents and trade and
other receivables as disclosed in Notes 3 and 6, respectively. The Group has adopted stringent
procedure in evaluating and accepting risk by setting counterparty and transaction limits. In
addition, the Group has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to customers with an
appropriate credit history.

In respect of installments receivable from the sale of properties, credit risk is managed primarily
through credit reviews and an analysis of receivables on a continuous basis. The Group also
undertakes supplermental credit review procedures for certain installment payment structures.
The Group's stringent customer requirements and policies in place contribute to lower
customer default than its competitors. Customer payments are facilitated through various
collection modes including the use of postdated checks and auto-debit arrangements. Exposure
to bad debts is not material as title to real estate properties are not transferred to the buyers
until full payment has been made and the requirement for remedial procedures is minimal given
the profile of buyers.

Credit risk arising from rental income from leasing properties is primarily managed through a
tenant selection process. Prospective tenants are evaluated on the basis of payment track
record and cther credit information. In accordance with the provisions of the lease contracts,
the lessees are required to deposit with the Group security deposits and advance rentals which
helps reduce the Group’s credit risk exposure in case of defaults by the tenants. For existing
tenants, the Group has put in place a monitoring and follow-up system. Receivables are aged
and analyzed on a continuous basis to minimize credit risk associated with these receivables.
Reqular meetings with tenants are also undertaken to provide opportunities for counseling and
further assessment of paying capacity.

Other financial assets are comprised of cash and cash equivalents excluding cash on hand,
financial assets at FVPL, financial assets at FVOCI and advances to associates. The Group
adheres to fixed limits and quidelines in its dealings with counterparty banks and its investment
in financial instrurents. Bank limits are established on the basis of an internal rating system that
principally covers the areas of liquidity, capital adequacy and financial stability. The rating
system likewise makes use of available international credit ratings. Given the high credit
standing of its accredited counterparty banks, management does not expect any of these
financial institutions to fail in meeting their obligations. Nevertheless, the Group closely
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monitors developments over counterparty banks and adjusts its exposure accordingly while
adhering to pre-set limits.

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The
maximum exposure to credit risk as at December 31 are as follows:

e 2023 2022
Cash and cash equivalents excluding cash on hand P283,100,676 P163,841,734
Trade and other receivables 563,277,092 542,479,207

P846,377,768 P706,320,941

The credit quality of financial assets which are neither past due nor impaired is discussed below:
{a) Cashin banks and cash equivalents

The Group deposits its cash balance in reputable banks te minimize credit risk exposure
amounting to P283,100,676 and P163,961,734 as at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively
{see Note 3). Cash deposits are considered to be of high grade.

For cash and cash equivalents, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification. The
probability of default and loss given defaults are publicly available and are considered to be low
credit risk investments. However, when there has been a material increase in credit risk since
origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECL. The Group uses the ratings from
publicly available sources to determine whether the debt instrument has materialy increased in
credit risk and to estimate ECLs.

Receivables amounting to P126.36 million and P150.68 million as of December 31, 2023 and
2022, respectively {see Note 6}, were impaired and fully provided for. The allowance for doubtful
accounts for receivables has been determined as follows:

- 2023 2022
Trade:
Sale of real estate P73,462,630 P83,512,900
Lease 4,787,075 5,478,810
Management fees 3,189,750 3,189,750
Premiums receivable 2,899,962 5,082,902
Advances 862,891 862,891
Other receivables 41,155,714 52,550,154
P126,358,022 P150,677,407
{b.1.) Trade receivables on real estate
2023 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Trade raceivablas o
High grade P215,548,097 P- P- P215,548,097
Sub-standard - 10,953,547 - 10,953,547
Low grade - - 181,261,021 181,261,021
Individually impaired S = 95,130,085 95,130,085
o P215,548,087  P10,953,547  P276,391,106 P502,892,750

Forward
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2023 Stage 1 Stage 2 _ Stage3 Total
Provision
High grade P4,087,405 P- P- P4,087,405
Sub-standard - 3,820,559 - 3,820,559
Low grade = - 9,532,005 9,532,005
Individually impaired B - - 66,072,931 66,072,931
4,087,405 3,820,559 75,604,936 83,512,900
P211.460,692 P7,132,988 P200,786,170 P419,379,850
2022 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Trade receivables - -
High grade P269,348,812 P- P- P269,348,812
Sub-standard - 76,348,441 = 76,348,441
Low grade - - 121,787,390 121,787,390
Individually impaired - - 66,371,974 66,371,974
269,348,812 76,348,441 188,159,364 533,856,617
Provision
High grade 4,087,405 = s 4,087,405
Sub-standard - 3,820,559 - 3,820,559
Low grade - o 9,532,005 9,532,005
_Individually impaired = = 66,072,931 66,072,931
4,087,405 3.820,559 75,604,936 83,512,900
P265,261,407 P72,527.882 P112,554,428 P450,343,717

High grade exposures are loans that do not have greater-than-normal credit risk. The buyer has
the apparent ability and willingness to satisfy his obligation in full and therefore no loss in
ultimate collection is anticipated.

Sub-standard grade exposures are receivables that have normal credit risk and have past due
above 30 days but below 90 days.

Low grade exposures are receivables that are past due date beyond 90 days and have
approached greater-than-normal credit risk.

Iindividually impaired exposures are receivables that are past due beyond 90 days, have
approached greater-than normal credit risk.

For trade receivables on sale of real estate, the Parent Company applies a general approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the general approach, ECLs are recognized in three (3} stages as
follows:

+  Stage 1: For credit expasures for which there has not been a material increase in credit risk
since initial recognition and there is no default that occurred, a 12-month ECL is provided
for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12 months.

¢ Stage 2: For credit exposures for which there has been a material increase in credit risk since
initial recognition and there is still no default that occurred, a loss allowance equivalent to
lifetime ECL is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure.

®  Stage 3:For credit exposures for which there has been a material increase in credit risk since
initial recognition and for which an actual default has also occurred, a loss allowance
equivalent to lifetime ECL is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of
the exposure.

b.2 For trade receivables on lease and other financial assets such as accrued receivable,

receivable from related parties and advances to other companies, impairment provisions would
be based on the assumption that the receivable is demanded at the reporting date and it would
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reflect the losses (if any) that would result from this. Since the receivables are collectible on
demand, the contractual period is the very short period needed to transfer the cash once
demanded. Discounting would have immaterial effect in the balances,

2023 —

Management Premiums
) Lease feas receivable Advances Otherreceivables
Gross amount P20,797,696 P5,226,833 P4,012,287 P82,745,379 PE9,094,324
Provisions 5.478,810 3,189,750 2,899,962 862,891 41,155,714
Carrylng Amount P15,318,886 PZ,037,083 1,112,325 P81,882,488 P27.938,610

2022

Management Premiums
Lease fees receivable Advances  Other receivables
Grogs amount P24,271,329 P4,970,368 P12,365,197  P51,760,56% P69,174,370
Provisions 5,478,810 3,189,750 5,082,902 862,891 52,550,154
Carrying Amount P18,792,519 P1,780,618 P7,282,295  P50,897,678 P16,624.216

36. Capital Management

The Parent Company manages its capital to ensure that the Parent Company is able to continue
as a going concern while maximizing the return to shareholders through the optimization of the
debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Parent Company consists of equity, which comprises of issued
capital, additional paid-in capital, reserves, retained earnings and treasury stocks,

Management reviews the capital structure on a quarterly basis. As part of this review,
management considers the cost of capital and the risks associated withiit.

There were no changes in the Parent Company’s approach to capital management during the
year.

As part of the reforms of the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) to expand capital market and
improve transparency among listed firms, PSE requires listed entities to maintain a minimum of
ten percent (10%) of their issued and outstanding shares, exclusive of any treasury shares, held
by the public. The Parent Company has fully complied with this requirement in 2021 and 2020.

Tektite Insurance Brokers, Inc.

TIBl was incorporated and registered with the SEC on January 2, 1989 to engage in the business
of insurance brokerage. On May 24, 2022, the BOD of TIBI approved the amendment of the
Company’s Articles of Incorporation and By-laws to conform with the IC's requirements in
changing its business activities from that of an insurance broker to an insurance agent. As of
reporting period, TIBl is in the process of finalizing all the requirements to change its IC
registration from abroker to an agent.

The registered office address of TIBI is at the 20 Floor, East Tower, Philippine Stock Exchange
Centre, Exchange Road, Ortigas Center, Pasig City.

37. Seg_ment Information
The segment assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 and the results of

operations of the reportable segments for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021
are as follows:
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PHILIPPINE REALTY AND HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following are the principal activities of the Parent Company's subsidiaries:

PRHC Property Managers, Inc. (PPMI)

PPMI was incorporated and registered with the SEC on May 24, 1991 to engage in the business
of managing, operating, developing, buying, leasing and selling real and personal property either
for itself and/or for others.

The registered office address of PPMI is at Unit E2003B, 20" Floor East Tower, Tektite Towers,
Exchange Road, Ortigas Center, Pasig City.

Tektite Insurance Brokers, Inc. (TIBI)

TIBl was incorporated and registered with the SEC on January 2, 1989 to engage in the business
of insurance brokerage. On May 24, 2022, the BOD of TIBl approved the amendment of the
Company's Articles of Incorporation and By-laws to conform with the IC's requirements in
changing its business activities from that of an insurance broker to an insurance agent. As of
reporting period, TIBI is in the process of finalizing all the requirements to change its IC
registration from a broker to an agent.

The reqgistered office address of TIBl is at the 20" Floor, East Tower, Philippine Stock Exchange
Centre, Exchange Road, Ortigas Center, Pasig City.

Universal Travel Corporation (UTC)

UTC was incorporated and registered with the SEC on November 9, 1993 to engage in the
business of travel services by providing, arranging, marketing, engaging or rendering advisory
and consultancy services relating to tours and tour packages. On March 15, 2018, the Board of
Directors of UTC approved the resolution on the cessation of operations effective July 31,
2018. Thereafter, the Company became inactive.

The registered office address of UTC is Unit E2003B, 20" Floor East Tower, Tektite Towers,
Exchange Read, Ortigas Center, Pasig City.

Sultan's Power, Inc. (SP1)

Sultan Power, Inc. {"SPI") was incorporated under Philippine laws and reqistered with the SEC on
March 19, 2015 as a holding company. SPl acquired 51% of the total issued and outstanding
shares of RECON-X Energy Corporation (*RECON-X"} in 2021.

RECCN-X was incorporated under Philippine laws and registered with the SEC on June 27, 2014
to engage in the business of recycling and converting plastics into fuel (gasoline, diesel and
kerosene) using patented technology. The process was duly certified on Novernber 2, 2015, by
the Intellectual Property Office of the Philippines {"IPOPHL"} for "Improved Method of
Converting Land-Filled Plastic Wastes into Hydrocarbon Fuel”, certified by the Department of
Science and Technology {("DOST") and by the Department of Energy {"DOE"}. As of December
31, 2021, RECON-X was able to procure the additional catalysts and materials needed for the
plastic diesel conversion plant to be used to process waste materials into fuel. In 2023, RECON-
X has started introduction of feedstocks, performance testing and testing of fuel compliance
with National Standards and securing plastic waste supply from a plastic waste aggregator.,
RECON-Xis set to commence its commercial operations in 2024.

The registered office address of SPI is Unit E2003B, 20* Floor East Tower, Tektite Towers,
Exchange Road, Ortigas Center, Pasig City.

()
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&/F Don Jacintc Bldg.,

i C Dela Rosa cor. Salcedo Sts.,
M V Legaspi Village,Makatl City1226
O Philipplnes
o Telephone: +63 (2) 8403 7228 to 30

Cortifiad Pobiic A s ol M Fax: +63 (2) 8403 7306

Member of @ Nexia

MVCo@MVCo.com.ph
www.MVCo.com.ph
www.nexia.com

STATEMENTS REQUIRED BY THE REVISED SECURITIES REGULATION CODE (SRC) RULE 68,
ONOCTOBER 3, 2019

The Shareholders and Board of Directors

Philippine Realty and Holdings Corporation

One Balete, 1 Balete Drive cormer N. Domingo Street
Brgy. Kaunlaran District 4

Quezon City

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Philippine Realty and
Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries as at and for the year ended December 31, 2023, on which we
have rendered our report dated March 19, 2024. The supplementary information shown in the
Reconciliation of Retained Earnings Available for Dividend Declaration {Part 1, 5B and Annex 68-D),
Financial Soundness Indicators {Part 1, 5C and Annex 68-E}, and Map of Relationships Between and
Among the Related Parties (Part 1, 5G} as additional components required by Part |, Section 5 of the
Revised SRC Rule 68 and Schedules A, B, C, D, E, F and G, as required by Part ll, Section 7 and Annex
68-J of the Securities Regulation Code, are presented for purposes of filing with the Securities and
Exchange Commission and are not a required part of the basic consolidated financial statements.

Such supplementary information is the responsibility of management and has been subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic consolidated financial statements. In our opinion,
the supplementary information has been prepared in accordance with Part |, Section 5 and Part I,
Section 7 of the Revised SRC Rule 68.

MACEDA VALENCIA & CO.

SE 7. VALENCIA

License No. 32659

Tax Identification No. 119-894-676-000

PTR No. 10083026
Issued on January 9, 2024 at Makati City

BOA/PRC Reg. No. 4748 valid until August 7, 2024

BIR Accreditation No. 08-005063-000-2024 {firm); 08-005063-001-2024 {individual}
Issued on March 26, 2024; valid until March 25, 2027

March 19, 2024
Makati City

Maceda Valencia & Co. is an independent member firm of Mexia Intemational, a worldwide network of independent accounting end consulting firms. Nexiz International
daes not accept any responsibility for the cormmission of any act, or omission to act by, or the liabilities of, any of its members. Membership of Nexda Internatlonal, or
assoclated umbrella organizations, does not constitute any partnership between members, and members do not accept any responsibility for the commission of any
act, or omission to act by, or the liabilities of, other members,
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“Annex A"

Reconciliation of Retained Earnings Availabole for Dividend Declaration

For the reporting period ended December 31, 2023

Philippine Realty And Holdings Corporation
One Balete, 1 Balete Drive Corner N. Domingo St.
Brgy. Kaunlaran, Dirtrict 4, Quezon City 1111, Philippines

Unappropriated Retained Earnings, beginning of the
reporting period
Adjustments for:

Accumulated Deferred Tax
Accumulated unrealized gain on fair market value

P1,555,405,651

696,703,231
(2,836,797,113)

Less: Items that are directly debited to Unapppropriated

Retained Earnings

Dividend declaration during the reporting period

Retained Earnings appropriated during the
reporting period

Effect of restatements or prior-period adjustments

Others (describe nature)

(584,688,231)

Unappropriated Retained Earnings, as adjusted
Add: Net Income for the current year
Add: Unrealized income recognized in the profit or loss

in prior reporting perlods but realized in the

current reporting period (net of tax)

Realized foreign exchange gain, except those
attributable to cash and cash equivalents

Realized fair value adjustment {mark-to-market
gains} of financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss {FVYTPL)

Realized fair value gain of Investment Property

Other realized gains or adjustments to the retained
earnings as a result of certain transactions
accounted for under PFRS [describe nature)

Add/Less: Adjustments related to relief granted in SEC

and BSP

Net mavement of treasury shares {except for
reacquisition of redeemable shares

Net movement of deferred tax asset not considered
in reconciling iterns under the previous
categories

Net movement of deferred tax asset and deferred
tax liabilities related to same transaction, e.g. set-
up of right of use asset and lease liability, set-up
of asset and asset retirement obligation, and set-
up of service concession asset and concession
pavable

Adjustment to deviation from PFRS/GAAP — gain
{loss)

{584,688,231)
112,880,755

(259,380,144)

- (259,380,144)

59,621,911

e 59,621,911

Tota! Retained Earnings, end of the reporting period
available for dividend

(P671,565,709)
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SCHEDULE OF FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS INDICATORS
As of December 31, 2023

Philippine Realty And Holdings Corporation
One Balete, 1 Balete Drive Corner N. Domingo St.
Brgy. Kaunlaran, District 4, Quezon City 1111, Philippines

- 2023 2022
Current Ratio™™! 3.52 3.61
Acid Test Ratio'? 1.24 1.32
Debt to Equity Ratio™ 0.36 0.32
Asset to Equity Ratiot” 1.36 1.32
Interest Coverage Ratio® 3.53 5.80
Net Profit Margin Ratio'® 0.39 0.56
Return on Assets”) 0.01 0.02
Return on Equity®® 0.02 0.03
Solvency Ratio™ 0.06 0.09

1 Current ratio is measured as current assets divided by current liabilities.

@ Acid test ratio is measured as current assets less inventory divided by current liabilities.

B Debt to equity ratio is measured as total liabilities divided by totaf equity.

4 Asset to equity ratio is measured as totol assets divided by total equity.

®  interest coverage ratio is measured by EBIT, or earnings before interest and taxes, divided by
total financing costs.

) Net profit margin ratio is derived by dividing net profit with totol revenue.

7! Return on assets is measured by dividing net income after tax with total assets.

®  Return on equity is measured by dividing net income after tax with total capital accounts.

) Solvency ratio is measured by dividing net income after tax plus depreciation with total liabilities.
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ANNEX 68-1

Schedule for Listed Companies with a Recent Offering of Securities to the Public
As of December 31, 2023

Philippine Realty And Hoeldings Corporation

One Balete, 1 Balete Drive Corner N, Domingo 5t.
Brgy. Kaunlaran, District 4, Quezon City 1111, Philippines

1. Gross and net proceeds as disclosed in the final prospectus
Not applicable

2. Actual gross and net proceeds
Not applicable

3. Each expenditure item where the proceeds were used
Not applicable

4, Balance of the proceeds as of end reporting period
Not applicable
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HEAD OFFICE

One Balete Building
1 Balete Drive corner N. Domingo St.
Brgy. Kaunlaran, Quezon City 1111 Philippines

Telephone:  (632) 86313179
E-mail: info@philrealty.com.ph
Website: www.philrealty.com.ph

LEGAL COUNSELS

Bernardo Placido Chan & Lasam Law Offices
Martinez Vergara Gonzales & Serrano Law Office
Pastelero Law Office

Picazo Buyco Tan Fider & Santos Law Offices
Somera Javeloza & Associates

Tiongco Siao Bello & Associates Law Offices
Yabes & Yabes-Alvarez & Associates

BANKS

BDO Unibank, Inc.

Bank of the Philippine Islands
China Bank Savings Inc.

City Savings Bank Inc.

Maybank Philippines, Inc.
Metropolitan Bank and Trust Co.
Philippine Bank of Communications
Philippine National Bank

Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation
Security Bank Corporation

Union Bank of the Philippines

TRANSFER AGENT

Stock Transfer Service, Inc.

AUDITOR

Maceda Valencia & Co.

LISTING
Philippine Stock Exchange
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